MINICOURSE: BANACH REPRESENTATIONS OF DYNAMICAL SYSTEMS WARSAW, APRIL 2014 MICHAEL MEGRELISHVILI (BAR-ILAN UNIVERSITY, ISRAEL)

MEGERELI@ MATH.BIU.AC.IL WWW.MATH.BIU.AC.IL/~MEGERELI

CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	1
2.	Preliminaries	4
3.	Actions and semigroups	11
4.	Representations of topological groups I	15
5.	Matrix coefficients	20
6.	Reflexive spaces and WAP systems	22
7.	Applications	28
8.	Some parallel hierarchies	30
9.	Some examples	31
10.	More applications of fragmentability	33
11.	Representations of topological groups II	34
12.	Appendix A: Fragmentability and Banach spaces	38
13.	Appendix B: HNS and tame systems	46
14.	Appendix C: Tame systems and dynamical BFT dichotomy	49
15.	Appendix D: Representations of HNS and tame systems	53
References		

1. INTRODUCTION

Banach representations of dynamical systems is a relatively new theory already having several important applications. In the present course we study some hierarchies of topological dynamical systems and topological groups coming from Banach space theory. This allows to find new links between many different research lines. Among others: abstract topological dynamics, geometry of Banach spaces and the theory of Polish topological groups.

During this course I will expose some results and ideas mainly from recent joint works with Eli Glasner (Tel Aviv University). A part of the presented results are joint with Vladimir Uspenskij [30]. We mention also a major influence of several works of Vladimir Pestov. See, for instance, [59].

Date: April 16, 2014.

This research was partially supported by a grant of ISF 668/13 (Israel Science Foundation).

You can download this lecture, some exercises, as well as, some related papers, from the site www.math.biu.ac.il/~megereli/seminar.html

First let us ask some intuitive questions.

Question 1.1. What is common between:

- (1) Grothendieck's Double Limit Property, (weak) almost periodicity and reflexive Banach spaces;
- (2) Lack of "butterfly effects", averages of functions on topological groups and Asplund Banach spaces;
- (3) Fibonacci binary sequence ("cutting sequences"), quasicrystals, monotonic maps and Rosenthal Banach spaces.

By the Fibonacci binary sequence we mean the following particular case of a cutting binary sequence c_n of 0-s and 1-s (with the slope $\phi - 1$, $\phi = golden \ ratio = \frac{1+\sqrt{5}}{2}$).



FIGURE 1. The Fibonacci binary sequence

It can be defined also by the finite blocks s_n using the Fibonacci substitution: $s_0 = 0, s_1 = 01, s_n = s_{n-1}s_{n-2}$. So, we have $01001001001001 \cdots$.

One may prove (Theorem 15.6) that the Fibonacci cutting sequence "lives in a Rosenthal Banach space" as a generalized matrix coefficient. That is, there exist: a Rosenthal Banach space V, a linear isometry $\sigma \in \text{Iso}(V)$ and two vectors $v \in V$, $f \in V^*$ such that

$$c_n = \langle \sigma^n(v), f \rangle = f(\sigma^n(v)) \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

It is impossible to choose V reflexive or even Asplund.

Note that even "simple" bisequences sometimes are not reflexively representable. For example $c = \chi_{\mathbb{N}} : \mathbb{Z} \to \{0, 1\}$

 $\cdots 000111\cdots$

is not reflexively representable but it is Asplund representable.

Our aim is to show that Questions like 1.1 can be studied by developing a relatively new tool: representations of dynamical systems on Banach spaces.

Like topological groups, compact dynamical systems, can be represented on (duals of) Banach spaces. We study dynamical analogs of Eberlein, Radon-Nikodým and weakly Radon-Nikodým compacta; that is the classes of dynamical systems which

 $\mathbf{2}$

can be represented on reflexive, Asplund and Rosenthal Banach spaces. They correspond to important classes of compact metrizable dynamical systems: weakly almost periodic (WAP), hereditarily nonsensitive (HNS) and tame.

This approach naturally extends some classical research themes and at the same time opens new and sometimes quite unexpected directions. One of the examples is a connection between the lack of chaotic behavior (lack of "butterfly effects") of a dynamical system (HNS systems) and the existence of weak-star continuous representations on the dual of Asplund Banach spaces. The topological concept of the *fragmentability* (originally coming from Banach spaces) and the famous factorization theorem of Davis-Figiel-Johnson-Pelczyński are the main tools in the present theory.

We provide the necessary background. Besides some new results we give soft geometric proofs of several classical results (like: Teleman's regular representations of topological groups, Ellis and Ellis-Lawson theorems; Helmer's theorem about WAP functions; Ryll-Nardzewski's fixed point theorem, etc.). At the same time we discuss perspectives of the theory and pose several open questions.

1.1. Some concrete questions. To every Banach space V one may associate several important structures. For example: compact spaces $X \subset B^* := (B_{V^*}, w^*)$, topological groups $G \leq \text{Iso}(V)$ and continuous actions $G \times X \to X$, where $G \leq \text{Iso}(V)$ and X is a G-subset of (V^*, w^*) .

Let \mathcal{K} be a nice subclass of Banach spaces. For example: Hilbert, reflexive, Asplund, Rosenthal. There are several good reasons explaining our interest just to these classes.

Question 1.2.

- (1) Which compact dynamical G-systems X can be represented on some $V \in \mathfrak{K}$?
- (2) Which topological groups can be embedded into Iso(V) where $V \in \mathcal{K}$?

Remark 1.3. A classical result of Teleman [69] (see also the survey of Pestov [59] for a detailed discussion (downloadable from the course website)) is that every (Hausdorff) topological group can be embedded into Iso (V) for some Banach space V (namely, one can take V := RUC(G)). Furthermore, every continuous dynamical system (G, X) has a faithful representation on V := C(X), where one can identify $x \in X$ with the point mass δ_x viewed as an element of $C(X)^*$. This is true also for semigroup actions. So, any compact dynamical S-system X is Banach representable (on C(X)). However, the Banach spaces RUC(G), C(X) very rarely are in a nice class.

For a given topological semigroup S, one way to measure the complexity of a compact dynamical S-system X is to investigate its representability on nice Banach spaces, [28, 27, 25]. Another way is to ask whether the points of X can be separated by a norm bounded S-invariant family $F \subset C(X)$ of continuous functions on X, such that F is "small" in some sense or another. More precisely, Questions 1.2 are closely related to the next question. For every $F \subset V$ and a weak-star compact subset $X \subset V^*$ one may consider the evaluation map

$$v: F \times X \to \mathbb{R}$$

induced by the canonical bilinear mapping $V \times V^* \to \mathbb{R}, (v, f) \mapsto f(v)$. For example, B_V separates the points of V^* (hence also of X). For every $F \subset C(X)$ the evaluation map $F \times X \to \mathbb{R}$ obviously is represented on V := C(X). **Question 1.4.** Which abstract evaluation maps can be realized as a part of the canonical bilinear map on a Banach space $V \in \mathcal{K}$?

Usually F is "small" means that the pointwise closure $\operatorname{cl}_{p}(F)$ of F (the envelope of F) in \mathbb{R}^{X} is a "small" topological space. For example, (a) when $\operatorname{cl}_{p}(F) \subset C(X)$, or (b) when $\operatorname{cl}_{p}(F)$ consists of fragmented functions (Baire 1, when X is metrizable).

It turns out that the first case (a) characterizes the reflexively representable dynamical systems, (i.e., the dynamical analog of Eberlein compacta) or, for metric dynamical systems X, the class of Weakly Almost Periodic (in short: WAP) systems.

In the second case (b) we get the characterization of Rosenthal representable dynamical systems, or, for metric dynamical systems X, the class of tame systems (a Banach space V is said to be *Rosenthal* if it does not contain an isomorphic copy of the Banach space l_1 .)

We have the natural intermediate case of Asplund representable or hereditarily non sensitive (HNS) systems. Namely, an S-system X is HNS iff there exists a separating bounded family $F \subset C(X)$ which is a fragmented family.

2. Preliminaries

2.1. Notation. The closure and the interior operators in topological spaces will be denoted by *cl* and *int*, respectively. "Compact" will mean "compact and Hausdorff".

As usual hereditarily Baire means that every closed subspace is a Baire space. A function $f: X \to Y$ is Baire class 1 function if the inverse image $f^{-1}(O)$ of every open set is F_{σ} in X. A topological space X is said to be Polish if it admits a complete separable metrizable metric. For Polish spaces X a function $f: X \to \mathbb{R}$ is Baire 1 iff f is a pointwise limit of a sequence of continuous functions.

Banach spaces and locally convex vector spaces are over the field \mathbb{R} of real numbers. When V is a Banach space we denote by B, or B_V , the closed unit ball of V. $B^* = B_{V^*}$ and $B^{**} := B_{V^{**}}$ will denote the weak^{*} compact unit balls in the dual V^* and second dual V^{**} of V respectively.

2.2. From representations to compactifications. Let X be a topological space, Y be a compact Hausdorff space and let $f: X \to Y$ be a function such that f(X) is dense in Y. If f is continuous, then Y (more precisely, the pair (Y, f)) is called a *compactification of* X. If f is a homeomorphic embedding, then Y is called a *proper compactification of* X. Denote by $(\mathcal{C}(X), \leq)$ the partially ordered set of all compactifications of X up to the standard equivalence. For a topological space X denote by C(X) the Banach algebra of real valued continuous and bounded functions equipped with the supremum norm. Recall that the unital closed subalgebras of C(X) determine the compactifications of X.

Fact 2.1. (Gelfand-Kolmogoroff) There exists a natural order preserving bijective correspondence between $\mathcal{C}(X)$ (different compactifications of X) and closed unital subalgebras of C(X). In particular, C(X) determines the greatest compactification $\beta: X \to \beta X$.

Proof. (Sketch) Let \mathcal{A} be a Banach unital subalgebra \mathcal{A} of C(X). Denote by \mathcal{A}^* the dual Banach space of \mathcal{A} . Consider the canonical \mathcal{A} -compactification $\alpha_{\mathcal{A}} : X \to X^{\mathcal{A}}$,

where $X^{\mathcal{A}} \subset B^* \subset \mathcal{A}^*$ is the Gelfand space (or, the *spectrum*) of the algebra \mathcal{A} . The map

$$\alpha_{\mathcal{A}}: X \to X^{\mathcal{A}}, \ x \mapsto \delta_x$$

is defined by the *Gelfand transform*, the evaluation at x multiplicative functional, that is $\alpha(x)(f) = \delta_x(f) = f(x)$ and $X^{\mathcal{A}}$ is the closure of $\alpha_{\mathcal{A}}(X)$ in \mathcal{A}^* with respect to the weak^{*} topology w^* . Therefore $X_{\mathcal{A}}$ is compact by Alaoglu Theorem.

Conversely, every compactification $\nu : X \to Y$ is equivalent to the *canonical* \mathcal{A}_{ν} compactification $\alpha_{\mathcal{A}_{\nu}} : X \to X^{\mathcal{A}_{\nu}}$, where the algebra \mathcal{A}_{ν} (corresponding to ν) is defined as the image $j_{\nu}(C(Y))$ of the natural embedding of Banach algebras

$$j_{\nu}: C(Y) \to C(X), \quad \phi \mapsto \phi \circ \nu.$$

If $\mathcal{A}_1 \subset \mathcal{A}_2$ then the adjoint operator induces the weak-star continuous onto map $\mathcal{A}_2^* \to \mathcal{A}_1^*$. Its restriction on $c_2(X)$ gives the desired morphism of compactifications $c_2 \to c_1$.

Categorical view: the assignment $K \mapsto C(K)$ defines an important contravariant functor from the category **Comp** into the categories of Banach spaces **Ban** and Banach algebras.

For every (Tychonoff) space X and for the algebra $\mathcal{A} = C(X)$ we get the maximal (Chech-Stone) compactification.

$$\delta: X \to \beta(X) \subset B^* \subset C(X)^*$$

For every compact space K we have a topological embedding (Gelfand representation)

$$\delta: K \hookrightarrow C(K)^*, x \mapsto \delta_x.$$

Its image $\delta(K)$ affinely generates P(K) (i.e. $\overline{co}^{w^*}(\delta(K)) = P(K)$), where

$$P(K) := \{ \mu \in C(K)^* : \|\mu\| = \mu(\mathbf{1}) = 1 \}$$

the weak-star compact set of all probability measures on K. We have $K := \delta(K) \subset P(K) \subset B_{C(K)^*}$.

2.3. Topological prototypes. An important direction in the classical study of (large) compact spaces went via the following general principle: Given a compact space X find a nice class \mathcal{K} of Banach spaces such that there always is an element $V \in \mathcal{K}$ where X can be embedded into V^* equipped with its weak-star topology ?

Eberlein compacta in the sense of Amir and Lindenstrauss are exactly the weakly compact subsets in the class of all (equivalently, reflexive) Banach spaces. If X is a weak^{*} compact subset in the dual V^* of an Asplund space V then, following Namioka [55], X is called a Radon-Nikodým compactum (in short: RN). In other words, reflexively representable compact spaces are the Eberlein compacta and Asplund representable compact spaces are the Radon-Nikodým compacta. Hilbert representable compact are the so-called uniformly Eberlein compact spaces. Another interesting class of compact spaces, namely the weakly Radon-Nikodým (WRN) compacta, occurs by taking \mathcal{K} to be the class of Rosenthal Banach spaces (i.e. those Banach spaces which do not contain an isomorphic copy of l_1). Comparison of the above mentioned classes of Banach spaces implies the inclusions of the corresponding classes of compact spaces:

$$(\mathbf{Comp} \cap \mathbf{Metr}) \subset uEb \subset Eb \subset RN \subset WRN \subset \mathbf{Comp}.$$

Note that this classification makes sense only for large compact spaces, where X is not metrizable. In fact, any compact metrizable space is even norm embeddable in a separable Hilbert space.

Example 2.2.

- (1) For every Hilbert space H the (weak compact) unit ball (B_H, w) is uniformly Eberlein.
- (2) 1-point compactification $A(\kappa)$ of a discrete space of cardinality κ is uniformly Eberlein.

A topological space (X, τ) is *scattered* if every (closed) subset $L \subset K$ has an isolated point in L. $A(\kappa)$ is Scattered. For every ordinal λ the linearly ordered compact space $[0, \lambda]$ is scattered.

Fact 2.3. (Namioka-Phelps75) Let K be a compact space. The following are equivalent:

- (1) K is scattered ¹.
- (2) C(K) is an Asplund space.

Example: c = C(K) with $K = A(\omega)$. Note that infinite dimensional space C(K) never can be reflexive.

Corollary 2.4. Every scattered compact space is RN.

Remark 2.5.

- (1) $A(\kappa) \in Eberlein$.
- (2) $[0, \omega_1] \in RN \setminus Eberlein.$
- (3) Two arrows space $D \in WRN \setminus RN$.

Indeed, every compact linearly ordered space is WRN (a recent result [29]). D is not RN by a result of Namioka [55, Example 5.9].

(4) $\beta \mathbb{N} \notin WRN$.

This was done by Todorčević (private communication).

One of the main directions taken in our research is the development of a dynamical analog, for compact S-dynamical systems (where S is a semigroup), of the above mentioned classification of large compact spaces (this is made precise in Definition 2.12 below).

Remark 2.6. Perhaps the first outstanding feature of this new theory is that, in contrast to the purely topological case (i.e., the case of trivial actions), for dynamical systems, the case of metrizable systems is "full of life". Moreover, the main interest of the dynamical theory is just within the class of metrizable dynamical systems. For example, even for X := [0, 1], the unit interval, the action of the cyclic group \mathbb{Z} on X generated by the map $f(x) = x^2$ is RN and not Eberlein. There exists a compact metric \mathbb{Z} -system which is reflexively but not Hilbert representable, i.e., Eberlein but not uniformly Eberlein. There are compact metric \mathbb{Z} -systems which are WRN but not RN, etc. See Example 9.1.

 $^{^{1}}$ dispersed in other terminology

It turns out that the corresponding classes of metric dynamical systems coincide with well known important classes whose study is well motivated by other independent reasons. For example we have, Eberlein = WAP (weakly almost periodic systems), RN = HNS (hereditarily non-sensitive), WRN = tame systems. The investigation of Hilbert representable (i.e., "uniformly Eberlein") systems is closely related to the study of unitary and reflexive representability of groups.

2.4. Some connections to Banach space theory. Another remarkable feature is the fact that the correspondence goes both ways. Thus, for example, to construct some nontrivial examples of Banach spaces. Every metric WRN but not RN Z-system leads to an example of a separable Rosenthal Banach space which is not Asplund. One of the important questions in Banach space theory until the mid 70's was to construct a separable Rosenthal space which is not Asplund. The first counterexamples were constructed independently by James and Lindenstrauss-Stegall.

In view of the representation Theorem below we now see that a fruitful way of producing such distinguishing examples comes from dynamical systems. Just consider a compact metric tame G-system which is not HNS and then represent it on a (separable) Rosenthal space V. Then V is not Asplund (otherwise, (G, X) is HNS). We have several examples of dynamical systems of this type; e.g. $(H_+[0, 1], [0, 1])$, the Sturmian cascades, or the projective actions of $GL_n(\mathbb{R})$ on the sphere or the projective space.

One may make this result sharper by using representation theorem. There exists a separable Rosenthal space V without the *adjoint continuity property*. Indeed, the Polish group $G := H_+[0, 1]$, which admits only trivial adjoint continuous representations (and, hence, trivial Asplund or reflexive representations), is however Rosenthal representable.

Finally, let us mention yet another potentially interesting direction, which may lead to a new classification inside Rosenthal Banach spaces induced by topological classification of Rosenthal compacta (Todorcevic trichotomy) applied to the Rosenthal compacta of the form $\mathcal{E}(V)$ (enveloping semigroups of Banach spaces V).

2.5. Some typical applications.

Theorem 2.7. [46, 49] Let V be a reflexive space (remains true for PCP spaces). Then

- (1) norm topology = weak topology on every orbit Gv for every $G \leq \text{Iso}(V)$.
- (2) WOP=SOP. The weak and the strong operator topologies coincide on Iso (V).
- (3) Every weakly continuous (co)homomorphism $h: G \to \text{Iso}(V)$ is strongly continuous.

Proof. It is enough to show (1). Let $z \in X := Gv$. Denote by τ the weak topology on $X \subset V$. We have to show that for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists a τ -neighborhood O(z)of z in X such that O is ε -small. Since X is $(\tau, norm)$ -fragmented (non-sensitivity is enough), we can pick a non-void τ -open subset $W \subset X$ such that W is ε -small in V. Choose $g_0 \in G$ such that $g_0 z \in W$. Denote by O the τ -open subset $g_0^{-1}W$ of (X, τ) . Then O is a τ -neighborhood of z and is ε -small.

Theorem 2.8. (Shtern, Megrelishvili) If P is a compact semitopological monoid then there exists a reflexive Banach space V and an embedding $P \hookrightarrow \Theta(V)_w$ into the compact semitopological monoid

$$\Theta(V)_w := \{ \sigma \in L(V, V) : ||\sigma|| \le 1 \}.$$

Theorem 2.9.

- (1) Let S be a compact semitopological monoid and G be its subgroup. Then G is a topological group.
- (2) Ellis Theorem Every compact semitopological group G is a topological group.

Proof. It is enough to show (1). Combine previous two theorems. By Theorem 2.8, $G \leq \text{Iso}(V)_w \subset \Theta(V)_w$ for some reflexive V. By Theorem 2.7, WOP=SOP on Iso (V) for every $V \in PCP$. So, $G \leq \text{Iso}(V)_w = \text{Iso}(V)_s$ is a topological group.

Theorem. ([27], 2012) $\operatorname{Ros}_{\mathbf{r}} \neq \operatorname{Asp}_{\mathbf{r}}$

The Polish topological group $H_+[0, 1]$ is representable on a separable Rosenthal Banach space (and not representable on any Asplund space, [24], 2007).

∜

(Well known) There exists a separable Rosenthal Banach space which is not Asplund.

Remark 2.10. Well known but once it was a famous problem, resolving by James (JT space) and Lindenstrauss-Stegall (JF space).

Another corollary: There exists a separable Rosenthal space V without the *adjoint* continuity property.

2.6. The hierarchy of Banach representations. With every Banach space V one may naturally associate several structures which are related to the theories of topological dynamics, topological groups and compact right topological semigroups:

Definition 2.11.

- (1) Iso (V) is the group of linear onto self-isometries of V. It is a topological (semitopological) group with respect to the strong (respectively, weak) operator topology. It is naturally included in the semigroup $\Theta(V) := \{\sigma \in L(V, V) : ||\sigma|| \leq 1\}$ of non-expanding linear operators. The latter is a topological (semitopological) monoid with respect to the strong (respectively, weak) operator topology. Notation: $\Theta(V)_s$, Iso $(V)_s$ (respectively, $\Theta(V)_w$, Iso $(V)_w$) or simply $\Theta(V)$ and Iso (V), where the topology is understood.
- (2) For every subsemigroup $S \leq \Theta(V)^{op}$ the pair (S, B^*) is a dynamical system, where B^* is the weak star compact unit ball in the dual space V^* , and $\Theta(V)^{op}$ is the opposite semigroup (which can be identified with the adjoint) to $\Theta(V)$. The action is jointly (separately) continuous where S carries the strong (weak) operator topology.
- (3) The enveloping semigroup $E(S, B^*)$ of the system (S, B^*) is a compact right topological semigroup (it can be identified with the pointwise closure of Sin B^{*B^*}). In particular, $\mathcal{E}(V) := E(\Theta(V)^{op}, B^*)$ will be called the *envelop*ing semigroup of V. Its topological center is just $\Theta(V)^{op}_w$ which is densely embedded into $\mathcal{E}(V)$. Note that $\mathcal{E}(V) = \Theta(V)^{op}$ iff V is reflexive.

A representation of a semigroup S (with identity element e) on a Banach space Vis a co-homomorphism $h: S \to \Theta(V)$, where $\Theta(V) := \{T \in L(V) : ||T|| \leq 1\}$ and $h(e) = id_V$. Here L(V) is the space of continuous linear operators $V \to V$ and id_V is the identity operator. This is equivalent to the requirement that $h: S \to \Theta(V)^{op}$ be a monoid homomorphism, where $\Theta(V)^{op}$ is the opposite semigroup of $\Theta(V)$. If S = G, is a group then $h(G) \subset \text{Iso}(V)$, where Iso(V) is the group of all linear isometries from V onto V.

Definition 2.12. [49, 23, 24, 25] Let X be a dynamical S-system.

(1) A representation of (S, X) on a Banach space V is a pair

$$h: S \to \Theta(V), \ \alpha: X \to V^*$$

where $h: S \to \Theta(V)$ is a weakly continuous representation (co-homomorphism) of semigroups and $\alpha : X \to V^*$ is a weak^{*} continuous bounded S-mapping with respect to the dual action

$$S \times V^* \to V^*, \ (s\varphi)(v) := \varphi(h(s)(v)).$$

We say that the representation is *strongly continuous* if h is strongly continuous. A representation (h, α) is said to be *faithful* if α is a topological embedding.

- (2) If S := G is a group then a representation of (G, X) on V is a pair (h, α) , where α is as above and $h : G \to \text{Iso}(V)$ is a group co-homomorphism.
- (3) If \mathcal{K} is a subclass of the class of Banach spaces, we say that a dynamical system (S, X) is *(strongly)* \mathcal{K} -representable if there exists a weakly (respectively, strongly) continuous faithful representation of (S, X) on a Banach space $V \in \mathcal{K}$.
- (4) A dynamical system (S, X) is said to be *(strongly)* \mathcal{K} -approximable if it can be embedded in a product of (strongly) \mathcal{K} -representable S-spaces.

Remark 2.13. The notion of a reflexively (Asplund) representable compact dynamical system is a dynamical version of the purely topological notion of an *Eberlein* (respectively, a *Radon-Nikodym* (RN, in short)) compactum, in the sense of Amir and Lindenstrauss (respectively, in the sense of Namioka). As in [25], we call Rosenthal representable systems *Weakly Radon-Nikodym* (WRN) systems.

Remark 2.14.

- (1) Of course not every \mathcal{K} -approximable is \mathcal{K} -representable. Take for example, (S, X) with $S := \{e\}$ and $X := [0, 1]^{\mathbb{R}}$. Then (S, X) is clearly reflexively-approximable but not reflexively-representable (because X, as a compactum, is not Eberlein).
- (2) In some particular cases \mathcal{K} -approximability and \mathcal{K} -representability are equivalent. This happens for example if X is metrizable and \mathcal{K} is closed under countable l_2 -sums.
- (3) The classes of Eberlein, RN and WRN compact dynamical systems are closed under countable products.

Proof. Use the l_2 -sum of representations (h_n, α_n) of (S, X_n) on V_n where $||\alpha_n(x)|| \leq 2^{-n}$ for every $x \in X_n$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$ with $V := (\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} V_n)_{l_2}$. \Box

(4) ("building blocks" of dynamical systems) Let $S \times X \to X$ be a continuous action on a compact space X. Then the S-system X can be S-embedded into a topological S-product $\prod_{f \in F} X_f$ of "cyclic S-systems" X_f . Here $F \subset C(X)$ is a point separating family and X_f is defined as the Gelfand space of the algebra \mathcal{A}_f = the smallest closed S-invariant subalgebra generated by fS in C(X). It follows that if any X_f is s \mathcal{K} -approximated then X is \mathcal{K} -approximated, too.

3. Actions and semigroups

Definition 3.1. Let S be a semitopological semigroup with a neutral element e. Let $\pi : S \times X \to X$ be a *left action* of S on a topological space X. This means that ex = x and $s_1(s_2x) = (s_1s_2)x$ for all $s_1, s_2 \in S$ and $x \in X$, where as usual, we write sx instead of $\pi(s, x) = \lambda_s(x) = \rho_x(s)$. Let $S \times X \to X$ and $S \times Y \to Y$ be two actions. A map $f : X \to Y$ between S-spaces is an S-map if f(sx) = sf(x) for every $(s, x) \in S \times X$.

We say that X is a dynamical S-system (or an S-space or an S-flow) if the action π is separately continuous (that is, if all orbit maps $\rho_x : S \to X$ and all translations $\lambda_s : X \to X$ are continuous). If otherwise is not stated we assume that X is compact. We sometimes write it as a pair (S, X).

A right system (X, S) can be defined analogously. If S^{op} is the opposite semigroup of S with the same topology then (X, S) can be treated as a left system (S^{op}, X) (and vice versa).

Fact 3.2. (J. Lawson [41]) Let G be a Cech-complete (e.g., locally compact or completely metrizable) semitopological group. Then every separately continuous action of G on a compact space X is continuous.

Notation: All semigroups S are assumed to be monoids, i.e., semigroups with a neutral element e. Also actions are monoidal (meaning $ex = x, \forall x \in X$) and separately continuous. We reserve the symbol G for the case when S is a group.

Let $h: S_1 \to S_2$ be a semigroup homomorphism, S_1 act on X_1 and S_2 on X_2 . A map $f: X_1 \to X_2$ is said to be *h*-equivariant if f(sx) = h(s)f(x) for every $(s, x) \in S_1 \times X_1$. For $S_1 = S_2$ with $h = 1_S$, we say *S*-map. The map $h: S_1 \to S_2$ is a co-homomorphism iff $h: S_1 \to S_2^{op}$ (the same assignment) is a homomorphism.

Given $x \in X$, its *orbit* is the set $Sx = \{sx : s \in S\}$ A point x with cl(Sx) = X is called a *transitive point*, and the set of transitive points is denoted by X_{tr} . We say that the system is *point-transitive* when $X_{tr} \neq \emptyset$. The system is called *minimal* if $X_{tr} = X$. Equivalently: any nonempty closed S-subsystem of X is X.

By an (invertible) cascade on X we mean a continuous action $S \times X \to X$, where $S := \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\} := \mathbb{N}_0$ is the additive semigroup of all nonnegative integers (respectively, $S = (\mathbb{Z}, +)$).

3.1. Some old and new classes of semigroups. Let S be a semigroup which is also a topological space. By $\lambda_a : S \to S, x \mapsto ax$ and $\rho_a : S \to S, x \mapsto xa$ we denote the left and right *a*-transitions. The subset $\Lambda(S) := \{a \in S : \lambda_a \text{ is continuous}\}$ is called the *topological center* of S.

Definition 3.3. A semigroup S with a given topology is called:

- (1) right topological semigroup if every ρ_a is continuous;
- (2) admissible if S is right topological and $\Lambda(S)$ is dense in S;
- (3) topological if the multiplication $S \times S \to S$ is continuous;
- (4) topological group if S, algebraically, is a group, topological semigroup and if the inversion $s \mapsto s^{-1}$ is continuous.
- (5) semitopological if the multiplication $m: S \times S \to S$ is separately continuous (i.e., if S is left and right topological);

Define two new classes of compact right topological semigroups.

Definition 3.4. [23, 25] A compact admissible right topological semigroup (P, τ) is said to be:

- (1) [25] tame if the left translation $\lambda_a : (P, \tau) \to (P, \mu)$ is a fragmented map (Definition 12.1) for every $a \in P$.
- (2) *HNS-semigroup* if $\{\lambda_a : P \to P\}_{a \in P}$ is a fragmented family of maps.

These classes are closed under factors. We have the inclusions:

 $\{\text{compact semitopological semigroups}\} \subset \{\text{HNS-semigroups}\} \subset \{\text{Tame semigroups}\}$

3.2. Functions with small orbits. Let $S \times X \to X$ be an action. It induces the right action $C(X) \times S \to C(X)$ and a co-homorphism $h: S \to \Theta(C(X))$.

A (bounded) function $f \in C(X)$ is said to be:

(a) Right uniformly continuous if the orbit map $\tilde{f}: S \to C(X)$ is continuous; i.e.

$$\forall \varepsilon > 0 \ \forall s_0 \in S \ \exists U \in N(s_0) \ |f(sx) - f(s_0x)| < \varepsilon \ \forall x \in X, s \in U.$$

notation: $f \in \text{RUC}(X)$. If the action is continuous and X is compact then RUC(X) = C(X).

- (b) Almost periodic if the norm closure cl(fS) of the orbit fS is norm compact in C(X); notation: $f \in AP(X)$.
- (c) Weakly almost periodic if the weak closure $cl_w(fS)$ of the orbit fS is weak compact in C(X); Notation: $f \in WAP(X)$.

In particular we have WAP(S) for usual left action of S on itself. Note that for the right action of S on itself the corresponding (right) version of WAP(S) gives the equivalent definition [9, 6].

A compact S-space X is said to be (weakly) almost periodic if (resp., C(X) = WAP(X)) C(X) = AP(X). For any S-space X the collections WAP(X) and AP(X) are S-invariant subalgebras of C(X). The corresponding Gelfand spaces and compactifications define S-equivariant compactifications $u_{ap} : X \to X^{AP}$ and $u_{wap} : X \to X^{WAP}$. The compactification $S \to S^{WAP}$ (for X := S) is the universal semitopological semigroup compactification of S.

For every topological group G, treated as a G-space, the corresponding universal AP compactification is the classical *Bohr compactification* $b: G \to bG$, where bG is a compact topological group.

- (d) Let X be a compact DS. We say that $f \in C(X)$ is Asplund if fS is a fragmented family (Definition 12.1) of maps $X \to \mathbb{R}$; notation: $f \in \operatorname{Asp}(X)$. It is equivalent saying that $cl_p(fS)$ is a fragmented family. Define also, $\operatorname{Asp}(G) := \operatorname{Asp}(\beta_G G)$.
- (e) Let X be a compact DS. We say that $f \in C(X)$ is tame if $cl_p(fS)$ is an eventually fragmented family of maps $X \to \mathbb{R}$; notation: $f \in \text{Tame}(X)$. Or, equivalently, if fS does not contain an independent subsequence (Definition 12.7).

Another equivalent condition is: $cl_p(X) \subset \mathcal{F}(X)$, where $\mathcal{F}(X)$ is the set of all fragmented real valued functions on X. (See Theorem 12.10.)

3.3. Semigroup compactifications. A good introduction to semigroup compactifications of topological groups is a work of Uspenskij [73] (downloadable from the course website). See also a book of Berglund-Junghenn-Milnes [6].

Definition 3.5. Let S be a semitopological semigroup. [6, p. 105] A right topological semigroup compactification of S is a pair (γ, T) such that T is a compact right topological semigroup, and γ is a continuous semigroup homomorphism from S into T, where $\gamma(S)$ is dense in T and the left translation $\lambda_s: T \to T, x \mapsto \gamma(s)x$ is continuous for every $s \in S$, that is, $\gamma(S) \subset \Lambda(T)$.

It follows that the associated action

$$\pi_{\gamma}: S \times T \to T, \ (s, x) \mapsto \gamma(s)x = \lambda_s(x)$$

is separately continuous.

Example 3.6.

- (1) Maximal (jointly continuous) G-compactification $G \hookrightarrow \beta_G G := G^{\text{RUC}}$ (the greatest ambit). The corresponding algebra is RUC(G).
- (2) Universal semitopological compactification: $G \to wG := G^{WAP}$. The corresponding algebra is WAP(G).
- (3) universal topological compact group compactification (Bohr compactification): $G \rightarrow bG = G^{AP}$.

$$G \hookrightarrow \beta_G G = G^{\text{RUC}} \to G^{\text{Tame}} \to G^{Asp} \to G^{\text{WAP}} \to G^{AP} = bG$$

By [52], $q: G^{\text{RUC}} \to G^{WAP}$ is a homeomorphism iff G is precompact.

3.4. Enveloping semigroups. For every (separately continuous) compact S-system X we have a (pointwise continuous) monoid homomorphism $j: S \to C(X, X), j(s) = \tilde{s}$, where $\tilde{s}: X \to X, x \mapsto sx = \pi(s, x)$ is the s-translation ($s \in S$).

Definition 3.7. The enveloping semigroup E(S, X) (or just E(X)) of the compact dynamical S-system X is defined as the pointwise closure $E(S, X) = \operatorname{cl}_p(j(S))$ of $\tilde{S} = j(S)$ in X^X .

The associated homomorphism $j : S \to E(X)$ is a right topological semigroup compactification (say, *Ellis compactification*) of S, $j(e) = id_X$ and the associated action $\pi_j : S \times E(X) \to E(X)$ is separately continuous. Furthermore, if the S-action on X is continuous then π_j is continuous. E(X) is always a right topological compact monoid. Algebraic and topological properties of the families j(S) and E(X) reflect the asymptotic dynamical behavior of (S, X).

Exercise 3.8. (A concrete computation) Let $S := \mathbb{Z} \cup \{-\infty, \infty\}$ be the two-point compactification of \mathbb{Z} . Extend the usual addition by:

$$n+t = t+n = s+t = t \quad n \in \mathbb{Z}, \ s,t \in \{-\infty,\infty\}$$

Show:

- (1) (S, +) is a noncommutative compact right topological semigroup having dense topological centre $\Lambda(S) = \mathbb{Z}$.
- (2) S is topologically isomorphic to the enveloping semigroup of the invertible cascade ($\mathbb{Z}, [0, 1]$) generated by the homeomorphism $\sigma : [0, 1] \to [0, 1], \sigma(x) = x^2$.

14

Proof. Let E be the enveloping semigroup of $(\mathbb{Z}, [0, 1])$ and $j : \mathbb{Z} \to E$ be the corresponding compactification. Observe that besides the points $j(Z) = \{\sigma^n : n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ the enveloping semigroup E(X) contains two more points: a, b, where $a = \xi_{\{1\}}$ the characteristic function of $\{1\}$ and $b = 1 - \xi_0$, where $\xi_{\{0\}}$ is the characteristic function of $\{0\}$.

Exercise 3.9. Is it true that E from Example 3.8 is: (a) semitopological; (b) HNS; (c) Tame ?

Hint: use the fact that the compactum E is countable.

Remark 3.10.

- (1) {enveloping semigroups E(S, X)} = {compact right topological admissible semigroups}.
- (2) (G, X) is AP (equiv., equicontinuous) iff E is a group of continuous maps.
- (3) (Ellis-Nerurkar) [15]) X is a WAP system iff every $p \in E$ is a continuous map $X \to X$.
- (4) Enveloping semigroup $E(\mathbb{Z}, \Omega)$ of the Bernoulli shift symbolic system $\Omega := \{0, 1\}^{\mathbb{Z}}$ is $\beta \mathbb{Z}$.

Sketch: To see this recall that the collection $\{\overline{A} : A \subset \mathbb{Z}\}$ is a basis for the topology of $\beta\mathbb{Z}$ consisting of clopen sets. Next identify Ω with the collection of subsets of \mathbb{Z} in the obvious way: $A \longleftrightarrow \mathbf{1}_A$. Now define an "action" of $\beta\mathbb{Z}$ on Ω by:

$$p * A = \{g \in \mathbb{Z} : g^{-1}p \in \overline{A^{-1}}\}.$$

This action extends the action of \mathbb{Z} on Ω and defines an isomorphism of $\beta \mathbb{Z}$ onto $E(\Omega)$.

(5) If $\sigma : [0,1] \to [0,1], t \mapsto 4t(1-t)$ then for the corresponding cascade $\mathbb{N}_0 \times [0,1] \to [0,1]$ the enveloping semigroup *E* topologically contains $\beta \mathbb{N}$. (So, also in this case *E* is not a Frechet topological space.)

Below we answer the questions: for which compact metrizable dynamical systems the enveloping semigroup is: (a) metrizable; (b) Frechet.

3.5. Enveloping semigroups of Banach spaces.

Definition 3.11. Given a Banach space V we denote by $\mathcal{E}(V)$ the enveloping semigroup of the dynamical system $(\Theta(V)^{op}, B^*)$. We say that $\mathcal{E}(V)$ is the *enveloping* semigroup of V.

In the sequel whenever V is understood we use the following simple notations $\mathcal{E} := \mathcal{E}(V), \ \Theta := \Theta(V), \ \Theta^{op} := \Theta(V)^{op}$. By S_V we denote the unit sphere of V.

Lemma 3.12. [27] For every Banach space V, every $v \in S_V$ and $\psi \in S_{V^*}$ we have

- (1) $\Theta v = B$.
- (2) $v\mathcal{E} = B^{**}$.
- (3) $cl_{w^*}(\Theta^{op}\psi) = B^*.$
- (4) $\& \psi = B^*$.
- (5) $\Lambda(\mathcal{E}) = \Theta^{op}$.
- (6) V is reflexive iff $\mathcal{E} = \Theta^{op}$ iff \mathcal{E} is semitopological.

Some DS results below will lead us to

Theorem 3.13. Let V be a separable Banach space.

- (1) V is Asplund iff \mathcal{E} is metrizable.
- (2) V is Rosenthal iff \mathcal{E} is Frechet.

Theorem 3.14. Let V be a (not necessarily separable) Banach space.

- (1) V is Asplund iff \mathcal{E} is HNS semigroup.
- (2) V is Rosenthal iff \mathcal{E} is a tame semigroup.

4. Representations of topological groups I

By a (t-faithful) representation of a topological group G on a Banach space Vwe mean a continuous homomorphism (resp., topological group embedding) $h: G \to$ Iso (V) of G into the top. group Iso (V) of all linear onto isometries of V with SOT. Every (topological) group is topologically isomorphic to its opposite group by the assignment $g \mapsto g^{-1}$. Hence, G is representable on V iff it is co-representable on V.

Problem 4.1. Which (Polish) groups can be represented on nice Banach spaces ?

Let $\mathcal{K} \subset Ban$ be a subclass of Banach spaces. We write: $G \in \mathcal{K}_r$ if \exists a t-faithful representation of G on $V \in \mathcal{K}$.

$\mathbf{TGr} = \mathbf{Ban}_{\mathbf{r}} \supseteq \mathbf{Ros}_{\mathbf{r}} \supset \mathbf{Asp}_{\mathbf{r}} \supseteq \mathbf{Ref}_{\mathbf{r}} \supset \mathbf{Hilb}_{\mathbf{r}} \supset \{LC \text{ top. } gr.\}$

Remark 4.2.

- (1) (Teleman's theorem) Any topological group G is Banach representable.
- (2) (Gelfand-Raikov) Every locally compact group is Hilbert representable. If G is a locally compact topological group then the regular representation of $H = L_2(G, \mu)$ (where μ is the Haar measure) defines an embedding $G \hookrightarrow \text{Iso}(H)$.
- (3) (Me [48]) $G := L_4[0, 1] \in \mathbf{Ref_r} \setminus \mathbf{Hilb_r}$ (For proofs see Section 11). (Glasner-Weiss 2012) $\exists G \in \mathbf{Ref_r} \setminus \mathbf{Hilb_r}$ s.t. $G = l_2/D$ is Polish monothetic.
- (4) Unknown if: $\operatorname{Asp}_{\mathbf{r}} = \operatorname{Ref}_{\mathbf{r}}$, $\operatorname{Ban}_{\mathbf{r}} = \operatorname{Ros}_{\mathbf{r}}$. It is an open question if every Polish group is Rosenthal representable (enough to examine the universal Polish group $G := \operatorname{Homeo}([0, 1]^{\mathbb{N}}))$.

Remark 4.3.

(1) (Me 2001) $\mathbf{TGr} \neq \mathbf{Ref_r}$ $H_+[0,1] \notin \mathbf{Ref_r}$ \forall representation $h: H_+ \rightarrow \mathrm{Iso}(V)$ is trivial $\forall V \in \mathbf{Ref}$. \Downarrow

Every semitopological compactification of H_+ is trivial.

- (2) (Gl-Me 2007, independently also by Uspenskij) \forall representation $h: H_+ \rightarrow \text{Iso}(V)$ is trivial $\forall V \in \mathbf{Asp}$. \Downarrow
- (3) \forall metrizable semigroup compactification of H_+ is trivial.
- (4) \exists a proper semigroup compactification $H_+ \to S$ which is Fréchet (in fact, topologically $S \subset M_+([0,1],[0,1] = \text{Helly compactum})$.

Theorem. (Gl-Me 2012) $\mathbf{Ros_r} \neq \mathbf{Asp_r}$

The Polish topological group $H_+[0,1]$ is representable on a separable Rosenthal Banach space (and not representable on any Asplund space – 2007).

16 ↓

(Well known) There exists a separable Rosenthal Banach space which is not Asplund.

Remark 4.4. (Ferri-Galindo [17]) The topological group c_0 is not reflexively representable.

Note that c_0 as a Banach space is Asplund (because, $c_0^* = l_1$ is separable). However the following concrete question is open

Question 4.5. Is it true that c_0 is Asplund representable ?

Question 4.6. (Ferri-Galindo [17]) Is it true that for every abelian topological group G there exists a continuous injective representation $h: G \to \text{Iso}(V)$ with reflexive V?

Question 4.7. When a Polish topological group G can be embedded into a good right topological compact semigroup P? For example: when P can be semitopological, metrizable, Frechet, ...?

The latter is equivalent to asking when the group G is representable on a reflexive, Asplund or Rosenthal space.

4.1. Elementary observations.

Exercise 4.8. Every locally compact topological group is closed in every Hausdorff topological group.

For example, \mathbb{Z} and \mathbb{R} cannot be embedded into compact groups. In particular, such groups do not admit finite dimensional orthogonal representations $h : G \hookrightarrow O_n(\mathbb{R})$ where h is an embedding. More precisely, we have

Fact 4.9. Let G be a topological group. The following are equivalent:

- (1) G can be embedded into a compact topological semigroup.
- (2) G can be embedded into a compact group (i.e., the Bohr compactification $b : G \to bG$ is an embedding).
- (3) G is embedded into a product of finite dimensional orthogonal group $O_n(\mathbb{R})$.

The equivalence of (1) and (3) is a consequence of Peter-Weyl theorem. The equivalence of (1) and (2) easily follows from the following

Exercise 4.10. If S is a compact topological semigroup and if G is a subgroup of S then cl(G) is a (compact) topological group.

Exercise 4.11. Let (G, \cdot, τ) be a locally compact non-compact Hausdorff topological group. Denote by $S := G \cup \{\infty\}$ the 1-point compactification of G. Recall the topology

 $\tau_{\infty} := \tau \cup \{ S \setminus K : K \text{ is compact in } G \}.$

Show that $(S, \cdot, \tau_{\infty})$ is a semitopological but not a topological semigroup.

Corollary 4.12. Let G be a locally compact group. Then

- (1) G is embedded into a topological semigroup iff G is compact.
- (2) G is embedded into a compact semitopological semigroup.

Theorem 4.13. (Ellis thm) Every (locally) compact semitopological group is a topological group.

4.2. Examples of topological (semi)groups.

Exercise 4.14. Prove that:

- (1) for every metric space (M, d) the semigroup $S := \Theta(M, d)$ of all contractive maps $f : X \to X$ (that is, $d(f(x), f(y)) \leq d(x, y)$) is a topological monoid with respect to the topology of pointwise convergence;
- (2) the group Iso(M) of all onto isometries is a topological group;
- (3) the evaluation map $S \times M \to M$ is a continuous monoidal action.

Exercise 4.15. Let Y be a compact space. Show that:

- (1) The semigroup C(Y, Y) endowed with the compact open topology is a topological monoid;
- (2) The subset H(Y) in C(Y, Y) of all homeomorphisms $Y \to Y$ is a topological group;
- (3) For every subsemigroup $S \subset C(Y,Y)$ the induced action $S \times Y \to Y$ is continuous;
- (4) Furthermore, it satisfies the following remarkable minimality property. If τ_0 is an arbitrary topology on S such that $(S, \tau_0) \times Y \to Y$ is continuous then $\tau_{co} \subset \tau_0$.

4.3. Operator topologies.

Definition 4.16. Let V be a Banach space. The strong operator topology (SOT) on L(V, V) is the pointwise topology inherited from $(V, || \cdot ||)^V$. That is, a net s_i converges to s iff $s_i(v)$ converges to s(v) in the norm topology for every $v \in V$.

Replacing the norm topology of V by its weak topology we obtain the *weak operator* topology (WOT). A net s_i in (L(V, V), WOT) converges to s iff $f(s_i(v))$ converges to f(s(v)) in \mathbb{R} for every given pair of vectors $(v, f) \in V \times V^*$.

Exercise 4.17. Prove that:

- (1) $\Theta(V)$ and L(V, V) are semitopological monoids with respect to WOT.
- (2) The semigroup $\Theta(V)$ endowed with the SOT is a topological monoid. The subspace Iso $(V)_s$ of all linear onto isometries is a topological group.

Recall that (by Theorem 2.7) WOT=SOT on Iso(V) for reflexive V. Below in Theorem 10.2 we show this for a larger class of Banach spaces (PCP).

It is well known (de Leeuw-Glicksberg [12]) that $\Theta(V)_w$ is a compact (semitopological) semigroup for every reflexive V. One may show that this property characterizes reflexive spaces.

Lemma 4.18. For any Banach space V and any given norm 1 vector $v \in S_V$ the map

$$\Theta(V)_w \to (B, w), \ s \mapsto sv$$

is onto (and continuous).

Proof. Take $f \in S_{V^*}$ such that f(v) = 1. For every $z \in B$ define the rank 1 operator $z \otimes f : V \to V, x \mapsto f(x)z.$

Then $z \otimes f(v) = z$ and $z \otimes f \in \Theta$ since $||z \otimes f|| = ||f|| \cdot ||z|| = ||z|| \le 1$.

²in another terminology: *Lipschitz 1 maps*

Proposition 4.19. The following are equivalent:

- (1) V is reflexive;
- (2) $B := B_V$ is weakly compact;
- (3) $\Theta(V)_w$ is compact.

Proof. (1) \Leftrightarrow (2) is a well known criterion.

 $(2) \Rightarrow (3) \Theta(V) \subset (B, w)^B$ is a closed subset. Apply now Tychonoff Theorem.

 $(3) \Rightarrow (2)$ Is a corollary of Lemma 4.18.

Every left action $\pi: S \times X \to X$ induces the co-homomorphism $h_{\pi}: S \to C(X)$ and the right action $C(X) \times S \to C(X)$ where (fs)(x) = f(sx). While the translations $\tilde{s}: V \to V$ are continuous, the orbit maps $\tilde{f}: S \to C(X)$ are not necessarily norm (even weakly) continuous and require additional assumptions for their continuity. As before denote by $\operatorname{RUC}(X)$, the set of all functions $f \in C(X)$ such that the orbit map \tilde{f} is norm continuous.

For every normed space V the usual adjoint map

$$adj: L(V) \to L(V^*), \ s \mapsto s^* \quad (< s(v), f > = < v, s^*(f) >)$$

is an injective co-homomorphism of monoids. Sometimes we write simply s instead of s^* .

Lemma 4.20. For every normed space V the injective map

$$\gamma: \Theta(V)_s^{op} \hookrightarrow C(B^*, B^*)$$

induced by the adjoint map $adj : L(V) \to L(V^*)$, is a topological (even uniform) monoid embedding. In particular,

$$\Theta(V)^{op} \times B^* \to B^*$$

is a jointly continuous monoidal action of $\Theta(V)_s^{op}$ on the compact space B^* .

Proof. The strong uniformity on $\Theta(V)$ is generated by the family of pseudometrics $\{p_v : v \in V\}$, where $p_v(s,t) = ||sv - tv||$. On the other hand the family of pseudometrics $\{q_v : v \in V\}$, where $q_v(s,t) = \sup\{|(fs)(v) - (ft)(v)| : f \in B^*\}$ generates the natural uniformity inherited from $C(B^*, B^*)$. Now observe that $p_v(s,t) = q_v(s,t)$ by the Hahn-Banach theorem. This proves that γ is a uniform (and hence, also, topological) embedding.

Corollary 4.21. Let V be a Banach space. Suppose that $\pi : V \times S \to V$ is a right action of a topologized semigroup S by linear contractive operators. The following are equivalent:

- (i) The co-homomorphism $h: S \to \Theta(V), h(s)(v) := vs$ is strongly continuous.
- (ii) The induced affine action $S \times B^* \to B^*$, $(s\psi)(v) := \psi(vs)$ is jointly continuous.

For a compact space X we denote by H(X) the topological group of all selfhomeomorphisms of X endowed with the compact open topology.

Lemma 4.22. Let X be a compact G-space, where G is a topological subgroup of H(X). Assume that (h, α) is a faithful representation (that is, $\alpha : X \to (V^*, w^*)$ is an embedding) of (G, X) on a Banach space V. Then h is a topological group embedding.

4.4. Theorems of Teleman and Uspenskij. Teleman's theorem below 4.25 shows that any topological group is represented on a Banach space by linear isometries.

For example, every finite group G can be represented on \mathbb{R}^n with n = |G|. Indeed, take

$$G \hookrightarrow S_n \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Iso}(\mathbb{R}^n) = O_n(\mathbb{R}).$$

Exercise 4.23. Every discrete group G admits an effective isometric representation on the Banach space $l_{\infty}(G)$ and also on the Hilbert space $H := l_2(G)$. So, on $l_{\infty} := l_{\infty}(\mathbb{N})$ and on $l_2 := l_2(\mathbb{N})$ if G is countable.

For every compact space K we have the Gelfand representation $\delta : K \hookrightarrow C(K)^*$. Now let $S \times K \to K$ be a continuous action. The induced action $C(K) \times S \to C(K)$ is: linear, norm-preserving and continuous. We obtain a natural representation (h, δ) , where $h : S \to \Theta(V)$ is a strongly continuous co-homomorphism of monoids. Call it the *Teleman's representation*. This is a dynamical version of Gelfand's representation.

Theorem 4.24. [69] Let $S \times K \to K$ be a continuous action on a compact space K. Then

- Teleman's representation (h, δ) of the dynamical system (S, K) on the Banach space V = C(K) is faithful and strongly continuous. That is, h : S → Θ(V)_s is continuous. If S = G is a group then h is a co-homomorphism of groups h : G → Iso (V)_s;
- (2) Moreover, if S carries the compact open topology inherited from C(K, K) then the homomorphisms $S \to C(B^*, B^*)$ and $h : S \to \Theta(V)_s^{op}$ are topological embeddings.

Proof. (1) The induced right linear action $C(K) \times S \to C(K)$ is continuous (because the orbit maps are norm continuous). This action is contractive $(||fs|| \leq 1||$ for every $f \in C(X)$). It follows that $h: S \to \Theta(V)^{op}$ is a well defined strongly continuous homomorphism. Clearly, B^* is an S-subset under the dual action. By Lemma 4.20 we obtain that the action $S \times B^* \to B^*$ is continuous. Furthermore, h is injective (because, if $s_1 \neq s_2$ are distinct elements of $S \subset C(X, X)$ then $s_1x \neq s_2x$ for some $x \in X$. Choose $f \in C(X)$ such that $f(s_1x) \neq f(s_2x)$. Then $fs_1 \neq fs_2$). It is straightforward to see that $\alpha(sx) = h(s)(\alpha(x))$ for every $s \in X, x \in X$. So, (h, α) is equivariant.

(2) Let $S \subset C(K, K)$. Denote by τ_0 the induced topology on S. The action $S \times K \to K$ can be treated as a restriction of the bigger action $S \times B^* \to B^*$, where K naturally is embedded into B^* via Gelfand's map. Then the topology τ on S inherited from $C(B^*, B^*)$ majors the original topology τ_0 . Hence, $\tau_0 \subset \tau$.

On the other hand, the continuity of $(S, \tau_0) \times B^* \to B^*$ easily implies (minimality property in Exercise 4.15.4) that $\tau \subset \tau_0$ on S. Summing up we conclude that $\tau = \tau_0$ on S.

Theorem 4.25. (Teleman's theorems) Let G be a topological group. Then

- (1) G is embedded into Iso(V) for some Banach space V.
- (2) G is embedded into Iso(M, d) for some metric space (M, d).
- (3) G is embedded into Homeo(K) for some compact space K.

Proof. Clearly, $(1) \Rightarrow (2)$. By Theorem 4.24, $(3) \Rightarrow (1)$. So it is enough to show (3).

The left action $G \times G \to G$ is *G*-compactifiable. The algebra $\operatorname{RUC}(G)$ separates the points and closed subsets. Then the maximal *G*-compactification $G \to \beta_G G$ is an embedding and $G \hookrightarrow H(K)$, where $K := \beta_G G$.

Theorem 4.26. [50] (universal small actions) Let $K := [0,1]^{\mathbb{N}}$ be the Hilbert cube. Denote by U := C(K, K) the topological monoid and the natural action $U \times K \to K$. Then this action is universal for all monoidal actions on compact metrizable spaces. The pair (H(K), K) is universal for continuous group actions on compact metrizable spaces.

[That is, for every compact metrizable X and a topological submonoid S of U there exists an equivariant pair (h, α) : $(S, X) \Rightarrow (U, I^{\omega})$ such that $h : S \hookrightarrow U$ is an embedding of topological semigroups and $\alpha : X \hookrightarrow I^{\omega}$ is a topological embedding.]

Proof. Use Equivariant Teleman's representation on V := C(K) and the fact that by Keller's theorem $B^* = (B_{V^*}, w^*)$ is homeomorphic to the Hilbert cube K for every separable V.

Corollary 4.27. (Uspenskij [72]) $H([0,1]^{\mathbb{N}})$ is a universal Polish topological group.

5. MATRIX COEFFICIENTS

For every $h: S \to L(V, V)$ and any pair of vectors $v \in V$ and $\psi \in V^*$, we have a canonically associated *(generalized) matrix coefficient*

$$m_{v,\psi}: S \to \mathbb{R}, \quad s \mapsto \langle vs, \psi \rangle = \langle v, s\psi \rangle$$

$$S \xrightarrow{m_{v,\psi}} \mathbb{R}$$

$$h \downarrow \qquad \psi \uparrow$$

$$L(V,V) \xrightarrow{\tilde{v}} V$$

Easy to adopt this definition for any bilinear mappings $V \times W \to \mathbb{R}$ and a pair of compatible (co)-homomorphisms from S to L(V, V) and to L(W, W).

Remark 5.1. In order to justify the name "matrix coefficient" note the following. For $V = \mathbb{R}^n$ (rows $1 \times n$) consider V^* (columns $n \times 1$) and $v = e_i \in V$ and $w = e_j^t \in V^*$ taken from the standard basis.

Then for a matrix $A = (a_{ij})_{n \times n}$ we have

$$a_{ij} = \langle e_i \cdot A, e_j^t \rangle = e_i \cdot A \cdot e_j^t$$

(where $\langle v, w \rangle := v \cdot w$ matrix multiplication).

Exercise 5.2. Let $h: S \to \Theta(V)$ be a co-homomorphism. The following are equivalent:

- (1) h is weakly continuous;
- (2) The action $S \times B^* \to B^*$ is separately continuous (where $B^* := (B^*, w^*)$);
- (3) Every (matrix coefficient) $m_{v,\psi} : S \to \mathbb{R}, s \mapsto \langle vs, \psi \rangle$ is continuous for any $(v, \psi) \in V \times V^*$.

It is natural to expect that matrix coefficients reflect good properties of flow representations. We recall two well-known facts. The first example is the case of Hilbert representations. Let $h: G \to \text{Iso}(H)$ be a continuous homomorphism, where H is Hilbert with its scalar product $H \times H \to \mathbb{R}$. Then the corresponding matrix coefficient $m_{u,v}$ is the so-called *Fourier-Stieltjes functions* on G. If u = v, then we get *positive definite functions* on G. The converse is also true: every continuous positive definite function comes from some continuous Hilbert representation. Recall that a continuous bounded function $f: G \to \mathbb{R}$ is said to be *positive definite* if $\sum \alpha_i \alpha_j f(g_i^{-1}g_j) \ge 0$ for all $\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n \in \mathbb{R}, g_1, \dots, g_n \in G$. Every positive definite function is WAP.

The second example comes from Eberlein (see [6, Examples 1.2.f]). If V is reflexive, then every bounded V-representation (h, α) and arbitrary pair (v, ψ) lead to a weakly almost periodic function $m_{v,\psi}$ on S. This follows easily by the (weak) continuity of the natural operators defined by the following rule. For every fixed $\psi \in V^*$ $(v \in V)$ define

$$L_{\psi}: V \to C(S) \text{ and } R_v: V^* \to C(S), \text{ where } L_{\psi}(v) = R_v(\psi) = m_{v,\psi}$$

We say that a vector $v \in V$ is strong (weak) continuous if the corresponding orbit map $\tilde{v} : S \to V, \tilde{v}(s) = vs$, defined through $h : S \to \Theta(V)$, is strongly (weakly) continuous.

Fact 5.3. Let $h: S \to \Theta(V)$ be a weakly continuous co-homomorphism (homomorphism). Then

- (1) $L_{\psi}: V \to C(S)$ is a linear bounded S-operator between right (left) S-actions.
- (2) If $v \in V$ is strong continuous, then $m_{v,\psi}$ is right uniformly continuous on S. If ψ is norm continuous then $m_{v,\psi}$ is left uniformly continuous on S.

Proof. (1) Is straightforward.

(2) In order to establish that $m_{v,\psi} \in \text{RUC}(S)$, observe that

$$|m_{v,\psi}(st) - m_{v,\psi}(s_0t)| = | \langle vst, \psi \rangle - \langle vs_0t, \psi \rangle | = | \langle vs, t\psi \rangle - \langle vs_0, t\psi \rangle | \leq ||vs - vs_0|| \cdot ||t\psi|| = ||vs - vs_0||$$

The second case is similar.

Fact 5.4. Let $(h, \alpha) : (S, X) \rightrightarrows (\Theta(V)^{opp}, B^*)$ be an equivariant pair with weak^{*} continuous α .

(i) The map
$$T: V \to C(X), v \mapsto T(v)$$
, where $T(v): X \to \mathbb{R}$ is defined by
 $T(v)(x) = \langle v, \alpha(x) \rangle$

is a linear S-operator (between right S-actions) with $||T|| \leq 1$.

- (ii) $T(v_0) \in \text{RUC}(X)$ for every strongly continuous vector v_0 in V. Hence, if h is strongly continuous then $T(V) \subset \text{RUC}(X)$.
- (iii) If V is reflexive, then $T(V) \subset WAP(X)$.

Proof. (i) Is straightforward.

(ii) Observe that $||\alpha(x)|| \leq 1$ for every $x \in X$. We get

$$||T(v_0)s - T(v_0)s_0|| = \sup\{| < v_0s - v_0s_0, \alpha(x) > | : x \in X\} \le \\ \le ||v_0s - v_0s_0|| \cdot ||\alpha(x)|| \le ||v_0s - v_0s_0||.$$

This implies that $T(v_0) \in \text{RUC}(X)$.

(iii) If V is reflexive, the orbit vS is relatively weakly compact for each $v \in V$. By the (weak) continuity of the S-operator T, the same is true for the orbit of T(v) in C(X). Therefore we get $T(v) \in WAP(X)$.

Proposition 5.5. For every S-flow X the following are equivalent:

- (1) $f \in \operatorname{RUC}(X)$.
- (2) There exist: a Banach space V, a strongly continuous antihomomorphism $h: S \to \Theta(V)$, a weak^{*} continuous equivariant map $\alpha: X \to B^*$, and a vector $v \in V$ such that

$$f(x) = \langle v, \alpha(x) \rangle = T(v)(x).$$

Proof. (1) \implies (2) The function f belongs to an S-invariant Banach subalgebra \mathcal{A} of $RUC_S(X)$. The right action of S on $V := \mathcal{A}$ is jointly continuous. Then by Corollary 4.21, corresponding left action of S on the dual ball (B^*, w^*) is jointly continuous. Then the naturally associated map $\alpha : X \to B^*$ and the vector v := f satisfy the desired property.

 $(1) \iff (2)$ Immediate by Fact 5.4 (ii).

Proposition 5.6. For every semitopological monoid S the following are equivalent:

- (1) $f \in \operatorname{RUC}(S)$.
- (2) There exist: a Banach space V, a strongly continuous antihomomorphism $h: S \to \Theta(V)$, and a pair of vectors $v \in V$ and $\psi \in V^*$ such that $f = m_{v,\psi}$. If G is a topological group then $h(G) \subset Is(V)$.

Proof. (1) \Longrightarrow (2) Consider the Gelfand compactification $u_R : S \to S^R$ defined by $\operatorname{RUC}(S) = C(S^R)$. Then the action $S \times S^R \to S^R$ is jointly continuous. Now define: $V := C(S^R)$, corresponding strongly continuous $h : S \to \Theta(V)$ (induced by the right action of S on $C(S^R)$), $v := f \in V$ and $\psi = u_R(e) \in V^*$. (1) \Leftarrow (2) Immediate by Fact 5.3.2.

So we see that every right uniformly continuous function on a (semi)group can be represented as a matrix coefficient $m_{v,\psi}$ of some strongly continuous *Banach representation*. We mentioned also that a positive definite function on a topological group G is a matrix coefficient of some Hilbert representation. One of our aims is to understand the role of matrix coefficients for reflexive, Asplund and Rosenthal representations. We show that wap functions are exactly the *reflexive matrix coefficients*. In the "Asplund case" this approach leads to a definition of Asplund functions. For "Rosenthal case" we will get the so-called tame (regular (Kohler [40]) functions.

6. Reflexive spaces and WAP systems

6.1. **Double Limit Property.** Let F, X, Y be topological spaces and $w : F \times X \to Y, w(f, x) := f(x)$ be a function. We say that F has the Double Limit Property (DLP) on X if for every sequence $\{f_n\} \subset F$ and every sequence $\{x_m\} \subset X$ the limits

$$\lim_{n} \lim_{m} f_n(x_m) \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{m} \lim_{n} f_n(x_m)$$

are equal whenever they both exist.

Example 6.1. Let V be a reflexive space. Then B has DLP on B^* .

Proof. By Eberlein-Shmulian theorem B and B^* in their weak topologies are sequentially compact.

Theorem 6.2. (Raynaud [62, Prop. 1.1], Krivine-Maurey [39, Theorem II.3] for metrizable X, F) Let $w : F \times X \to \mathbb{R}$ be a separately continuous bounded function with compact spaces F and X. Then it can be represented on a reflexive space. That is, there exists a reflexive space V and weak continuous maps $\nu : F \to V$, $\alpha : X \to V^*$ such that $< \nu(f), \alpha(x) >= w(f, x)$.

Remark 6.3. One may refine these results (even keeping the general action setting) as follows. The fundamental DFJP-factorization construction from [10] has an "isometric modification" [42]. Taking into account this modification note that we can prove a little bit more. Namely, if the given family $F \subset C(X)$ is bounded by constant 1, then we can assume that $\nu(F) \subset B$ and $\alpha(X) \subset B^*$. Hence the following sharper diagram commutes:



For more details see [27].

Corollary 6.4. Let F and X are compact spaces and $w : F \times X \to \mathbb{R}$ be a separately continuous bounded function. Then:

- (1) F has DLP on X;
- (2) The induced (bounded) images $j_1(F) \subset C_p(X)$ and $j_2(X) \subset C_p(F)$ are Eberlein compacta (hence, Frechet and sequentially compact).

Note that (1) admits also a direct proof easily reducing the proof to the case of metrizable F, X.

Lemma 6.5. (Grothendieck) Let X be a compact space. Then a bounded subset F of C(X) is weakly compact iff F is pointwise compact.

Proof. By Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem it follows that any pointwise converging bounded sequence in C(X) is weakly converging. So, $id : (F, p) \to (F, w)$ is sequentially continuous. The evaluation map $(F, p) \times X \to \mathbb{R}$ is separately continuous. Therefore, (F, p) is a Frechet compactum (Corollary 6.4). So we obtain that the pointwise and weak topologies on $F \subset C(X)$ are the same.

Lemma 6.6. (Grothendieck; see for example [6, Appendix A]) Let F be a bounded subset in a Banach space V. The following are equivalent:

- (1) The weak closure of F in V is weakly compact;
- (2) F has DLP on B^* .

Theorem 6.7. Let V be a Banach space. The following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) V is reflexive.
- (2) B has DLP on B^* .
- (3) every bounded subset $F \subset V$ has DLP on every bounded $X \subset V^*$.
- (4) $B \subset V$ is weakly compact.

Proof. $(1) \Rightarrow (2)$ As in Example 6.1 use Eberlein-Shmulian theorem.

- $(2) \Rightarrow (3)$ Is trivial.
- $(3) \Rightarrow (4)$ Apply Lemma 6.6.

 $(4) \Rightarrow (1) B_V$ is w^* -closed in V^{**} . By Goldstine's theorem the w^* -closure of B_V in V^{**} is $B^{**} := B_{V^{**}}$. Hence, $B = B^{**}$. This implies directly that $V = V^{**}$.

Exercise 6.8. Let X be a compact space and $F \subset C(X)$ be a bounded subset. Show that F has DLP on X iff F has DLP on B^* , where $B^* = B_{C(X)^*}$.

Lemma 6.9. (Grothendieck) A bounded function $f \in C(G)$ is wap iff

$$\lim_{n}\lim_{m}f(g_{n}h_{m}) = \lim_{m}\lim_{n}f(g_{n}h_{m})$$

whenever all the limits exist.

6.2. WAP dynamical systems. Given a function $f \in C(X)$ we consider its orbit $fS := \{f \circ \tilde{s} : s \in S\} \subset C(X)$. For every $f \in C(X)$ the function $E \to \mathbb{R}^X, s \mapsto fs$ is pointwise continuous. So we have $fE = cl_p(fS)$.

One may estimate the dynamical complexity of f is by considering the pointwise compact subset $\operatorname{cl}_p(\mathrm{fS})$ in \mathbb{R}^X . Various kinds of "smallness" of this compactum leads to a natural hierarchy. The classical example is (weakly) almost periodic functions.

Definition 6.10. Let X be a compact S-system.

- (1) $f \in C(X)$ is said to be WAP if one of the following equivalent conditions is satisfied:
 - (a) fS is weakly precompact in C(X);
 - (b) $\operatorname{cl}_{p}(fS) \subset C(X);$
 - (c) fS has DLP on X.
- (2) (S, X) is said to be WAP if one of the following equivalent conditions is satisfied:
 - (a) every member $p \in E(S, X)$ is a continuous function $X \to X$;

(b) WAP(X) = C(X).

The equivalences can be verified using Grothendieck's classical results. See for example, [6, Theorem A4] and [6, Theorem A5]. If X is metrizable (or, sequentially compact) then (a) and (b) in (2) are equivalent to the condition: (c) $S \times X \to X$ has DLP.

Theorem 6.11. (Ellis and Nerurkar [15]) Let X be a compact S-dynamical system. The following conditions are equivalent.

- (1) (S, X) is WAP.
- (2) The enveloping semigroup E(S, X) consists of continuous maps. That is, $E(S, X) \subset C(X, X)$.

Proof. (1) \Rightarrow (2) By Definition 6.10, cl_p(fS) \subset C(X) for every $f \in C(X) = WAP(X)$. Therefore, $fp: X \to \mathbb{R}$ is continuous for every $f \in C(X)$ and $p \in E(X)$. Since X is compact this guarantees that every $p: X \to X$ is continuous.

 $(2) \Rightarrow (1)$ If $E \subset C(X, X)$ then $fE = cl_p(fS) \subset C(X)$. By Grothendieck's Lemma 6.5, $cl_p(fS)$ is weakly compact. Hence, $f \in WAP(X)$.

Corollary 6.12. When (S, X) is WAP the enveloping semigroup E(X) is a semitopological semigroup. The converse holds if in addition we assume that (S, X) is point transitive.

Example 6.13.

- (1) (Eberlein, see for example [6, Examples 1.2.f]) If V is reflexive, then every weakly continuous representation (h, α) of an S-system X on V and every pair $(v, \psi) \in V \times V^*$ lead to a weakly almost periodic function $m_{v,\psi}$ on S. This follows easily by the (weak) continuity of the bounded operator L_{ψ} : $V \to C(S)$, where $L_{\psi}(v) = m_{v,\psi}$.
- (2) Analogously, every $v \in V$, with reflexive V, defines a wap function $T_v : X \to \mathbb{R}$ on the G-system X which naturally comes from the given dynamical system representation (h, α) . Precisely, define

$$T(V) = T_v : X \to \mathbb{R}, \ x \mapsto \langle v, \alpha(x) \rangle.$$

Then the set of functions $\{T_v\}_{v \in V}$ is a subset of WAP(X).

Proof. (1) If the orbit of vS is relatively weakly compact in V. Then $L_{\psi}(vS) = m_{v,\psi}S$ is relatively weakly compact in C(S). Thus, $m_{v,\psi} \in WAP(S)$.

For the case when h is a "homomorphism" recall (see [9] or [6]) that fS is weakly precompact iff Sf is weakly precompact in C(S).

(2) Is similar.

If in (2) α is an embedding (which implies that X is reflexively representable) then it follows that the collection $\{T_v\}_{v\in V}$ (and hence also WAP(X)) separates the points of X. If, in addition, X is compact it follows that WAP(X) = C(X) (because WAP(X) is always a closed subalgebra of C(X)). That is, in this case (S, X) is WAP in the sense of Ellis and Nerurkar.

The converses of Example 6.13 is also true as we show below.

Theorem 6.14. [49] Let $S \times X \to X$ be a separately continuous action of a semitopological semigroup S on a compact space X. For every $f \in WAP(X)$ there exist: a reflexive space V, a functional $\phi \in V^*$ and an equivariant pair

$$(h, \alpha) : (S, X) \rightrightarrows (\Theta(V), B_V)$$

such that $h: S \to \Theta(V)$ is a weakly continuous homomorphism, $\alpha: X \to B_V$ is a weakly continuous S-map, and $f(x) = \langle \phi, \alpha(x) \rangle = \phi(\alpha(x))$ for every $x \in X$.

If S = G is a semitopological group then one can assume in addition that $h(G) \subset$ Iso (V) and $h: G \to$ Iso (V) is strongly continuous.

Theorem 6.15. [49, section 4] Let S be a semitopological semigroup.

- (1) A compact (continuous) S-space X is WAP if and only if (S, X) is weakly (respectively, strongly) reflexively approximable.
- (2) A compact (continuous) metric S-space X is WAP if and only if (S, X) is weakly (respectively, strongly) reflexively representable.
- (3) Every $f \in WAP(S)$ is a matrix coefficient of a reflexive representation.

It is important to take into account the following characterization of reflexive spaces.

Lemma 6.16. Let V be a Banach space. The following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) V is reflexive.
- (2) The semitopological semigroup $\Theta(V)_w$ is compact.
- (3) The compact right topological semigroup $\mathcal{E}(V)$ is semitopological.

(4) (Θ^{op}, B^*) is a WAP system.

Proof. (1) \Rightarrow (2) Always, $\Theta(V)$ is a closed subset of the product $(B, w)^B$. So, if V is reflexive then by Theorem 6.7 $(B, w)^B$ is compact. Hence, we obtain by Tychonoff theorem that $\Theta(V)$ is compact.

(2) \Rightarrow (3) Use the fact that $\Theta(V)_w^{op}$ is dense in $\mathcal{E}(V)$ (Lemma 3.12).

(3) \Rightarrow (4) One may apply Corollary 6.12 because ($\Theta(V)^{op}, B^*$) is transitive.

 $(4) \Rightarrow (1)$ Choose any $v \in S_V$ and treat it as a (continuous) function on the dynamical Θ^{op} -system B^* . Then $v \in WAP(B^*)$. Then its orbit has DLP on B^* . So, $v\Theta^{op} = \Theta v = B$ has DLP on B^* .

Another consequence of Theorem 6.15 (taking into account Lemma 6.16) is

Theorem 6.17. ([67] and [46]) Every compact semitopological semigroup S can be embedded into $\Theta(V)$ for some reflexive V.

Thus, compact semitopological semigroups S can be characterized as closed subsemigroups of $\mathcal{E}(V)$ for reflexive Banach spaces V.

6.3. DFJP factorization for WAP dynamical systems.

Theorem 6.18. Let X be a compact S-space and $F \subset C(X)$ a norm bounded Sinvariant subset of C(X). The following are equivalent:

- (1) (F, S, X) admits a reflexive representation.
- (2) $\operatorname{cl}_{p}(F) \subset C(X)$.
- (3) F has DLP on X.

Proof. (1) \Rightarrow (3) If V is a reflexive space then every bounded subset F of the dual V^* has DLP on every bounded subset $X \subset V$. This follows from the Eberlein-Šmulian theorem. See Theorem 6.7.

 $(2) \Rightarrow (1)$ Theorem 6.20 below.

 $(2) \Leftrightarrow (3)$ It can be found for example in [6, Theorem A.4].

Theorem 6.19. (S, X) is a WAP (continuous) system if and only if (S, X) is weakly (respectively, strongly) reflexively-approximable. If the compactum X is metrizable then "approximable" can be replaced by "representable".

 \square

Proof. The "only if" part: Use the fact that (Θ^{op}, B^*) is a WAP system (Theorem 14.4) for every reflexive space V.

The "if" part: (1) For every $f \in C(X) = \text{Tame}(X)$ the orbit fS has DLP (being weakly precompact) family for X. Applying Theorem 15.4 below we conclude that every $f \in C(X) = \text{Tame}(X)$ on a compact S-space X comes from a reflexive representation. Since continuous functions separate points of X, this implies that reflexive representations of (S, X) separate points of X. So, it is enough to prove the following result which gives a proof of Theorem 6.18.

Theorem 6.20. Let X be a compact S-space and let $F \subset C(X)$ be a bounded Sinvariant pointwise compact family. Then there exist: a reflexive Banach space V, an injective S-equivariant mapping $\nu : F \to B_V$ and a representation

$$h:S\to \Theta(V), \quad \alpha:X\to V^*$$

of (S, X) on V such that h is weakly continuous, α is a weak^{*} (in fact, weakly) continuous map and

$$f(x) = \langle \nu(f), \alpha(x) \rangle \quad \forall \ f \in F \ \forall \ x \in X.$$

Thus the following diagram commutes

 $\begin{array}{ccc} F \times X \longrightarrow \mathbb{R} \\ \nu & & \downarrow \alpha & & \downarrow id_{\mathbb{R}} \\ V & & V^* & \mathbb{D} \end{array}$ (6.1)

If X is metrizable then in addition we can suppose that V is separable. If the action $S \times X \to X$ is continuous we may assume that h is strongly continuous. If S = G is a group then $h(G) \subset \text{Iso}(V)$.

If F separates points of X then $\alpha: X \to (V^*, w^*)$ is a topological embedding.

Proof. Step 1: The construction of V.

For brevity of notation let $\mathcal{A} := C(X)$ denote the Banach space C(X), B will denote its unit ball, and B^* will denote the weak^{*} compact unit ball of the dual space $\mathcal{A}^* = C(X)^*$. Let W be the symmetrized convex hull of F; that is, $W := \operatorname{co}(F \cup -F)$. Then W is convex and symmetric. Consider the sequence of sets

(6.2)
$$M_n := 2^n W + 2^{-n} B_n$$

We apply the construction of Davis-Figiel-Johnson-Pelczyński [10] as follows. Let $\| \|_n$ be the Minkowski functional of the set M_n , that is,

$$||v||_n = \inf \{\lambda > 0 \mid v \in \lambda M_n\}.$$

Then $\| \|_n$ is a norm on \mathcal{A} equivalent to the given norm of \mathcal{A} . For $v \in \mathcal{A}$, set

$$N(v) := \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|v\|_n^2\right)^{1/2} \text{ and let } V := \{v \in \mathcal{A} \mid N(v) < \infty\}.$$

Denote by $j: V \hookrightarrow \mathcal{A}$ the inclusion map. Then (V, N) is a Banach space, $j: V \to \mathcal{A}$ is a continuous linear injection and

(6.3)
$$W \subset j(B_V) = B_V \subset \bigcap_{n \in \mathbb{N}} M_n = \bigcap_{n \in \mathbb{N}} (2^n W + 2^{-n} B)$$

Indeed, if $v \in W$ then $2^n v \in M_n$, hence $||v||_n \leq 2^{-n}$ and $N(v)^2 \leq \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-2n} < 1$. This proves $W \subset j(B_V)$. In order to prove the second inclusion recall that the norms $\|\cdot\|_n$ on \mathcal{A} are equivalent to each other. It follows that if $v \in B_V$ then $\|v\|_n < 1$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. That is, for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $v \in \lambda_n M_n$ for some $0 < \lambda_n < 1$. By the construction M_n is a convex subset containing the origin. This implies that $\lambda_n M_n \subset M_n$. Hence $j(v) = v \in M_n$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Step 2: The construction of the representation (h, α) of (S, X) on V.

The given action $S \times X \to X$ induces a natural linear norm preserving continuous right action $C(X) \times S \to C(X)$ on the Banach space $\mathcal{A} = C(X)$. It follows by the construction that W and B are S-invariant subsets in \mathcal{A} . This implies that V is an S-invariant subset of \mathcal{A} and the restricted natural linear action $V \times S \to V$, $(v, g) \mapsto vg$ satisfies $N(vs) \leq N(v)$. Therefore, the co-homomorphism $h: S \to \Theta(V)$, h(s)(v) := vs is well defined.

Let $j^* : \mathcal{A}^* \to V^*$ be the adjoint map of $j : V \to \mathcal{A}$. Define $\alpha : X \to V^*$ as follows. For every $x \in X \subset C(X)^*$ set $\alpha(x) = j^*(x)$. Then (h, α) is a representation of (S, X) on the Banach space V.

By the construction, $F \subset W \subset B_V$. Define $\nu : F \hookrightarrow B_V$ as the natural inclusion. Then

(6.4)
$$f(x) = \langle \nu(f), \alpha(x) \rangle \quad \forall \ f \in F \ \forall \ x \in X.$$

Step 4: V is a reflexive space.

Proof. By Grothendieck Lemma F is weakly compact. Now use that by Krein-Smulian theorem $W := \operatorname{co}(F \cup -F)$ is relatively weakly precompact. Now follow the arguments of [10]. Sketch: $j^{**}(B_{V^{**}}) \subset \mathcal{A}$. Hence, j^{**} is 1-1 and $(j^{**})^{-1}(\mathcal{A}) = V$. It follows that $V^{**} \subset V$ (reflexivity).

Step 3: Weak continuity of $h: S \to \Theta(V)$.

By our construction $j^*: C(X)^* \to V^*$, being the adjoint of the bounded linear operator $j: V \to C(X)$, is a norm and weak^{*} continuous linear operator. By [16, Lemma 1.2.2] we obtain that $j^*(C(X)^*)$ is norm dense in V^* . Since V (being reflexive) is Rosenthal, Haydon's theorem (Fact 12.11.4) gives $Q := cl_{w^*}(co(Y)) = cl_{norm}(co(Y))$, where $Y := j^*(X)$. Now observe that $j^*(P(X)) = Q$. Since $S \times X \to X$ is separately continuous, every orbit map $\tilde{x} : S \to X$ is continuous, and each orbit map $\widetilde{j^*(x)} : S \to j^*(X)$ is weak^{*} continuous. Then also $\widetilde{j^*(z)} : S \to V^*$ is weak^{*} continuous for each $z \in cl_{norm}(co(j^*(X))) = Q$. It is well known that P(X) generates $C(X)^*$ (even algebraically). So, $sp(Q = j^*(P(X)))$ is norm dense in V^* . Since $||h(s)|| \leq 1$ for each $s \in S$, it easily follows that $j^*(z) : S \to V^*$ is weak^{*} continuous for every $z \in V^*$. This is equivalent to the weak continuity of h.

If the action $S \times X \to X$ is continuous we may assume that h is strongly continuous. Indeed, by the definition of the norm N, we can show that the action of S on V is norm continuous (use the fact that, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, the norm $\|\cdot\|_n$ on \mathcal{A} is equivalent to the given norm on \mathcal{A}).

If the compact space X is metrizable then C(X) is separable and it is also easy to see that (V, N) is separable.

This proves Theorem 15.4 and hence also Theorem 15.3.1.

7. Applications

Theorem 7.1. (WAP Representation Theorem) Let X be a compact semitopological S-system and $f \in C(X)$. The following conditions are equivalent:

(i) $f: X \to \mathbb{R}$ is weakly almost periodic.

(ii) There exist: a representation (h, α) of (S, X) into reflexive V with a weak continuous antihomomorphism h : S → Θ(V), weak (eq., weak-star) continuous α : X → B*, and a vector v ∈ V such that f(x) =< v, α(x) >.

If either: a) S = G is a semitopological group; or b) X is compact and the action $S \times X \to X$ is jointly continuous, then in (ii) we can suppose that h is strongly continuous.

Proof. Recall that a continuous function $f \in C(X)$ is WAP iff the orbit fS is relatively weakly compact in C(X). That is, $cl_w(fS)$ is weakly compact. Apply Theorem 6.20 for $F := cl_w(fS)$.

Theorem 7.2. A compact S-system X is WAP iff X is reflexively approximable.

Proof. If X is REFL-approximable then X is wap by Fact 5.4 (iii) (in fact, WAP separates points but since WAP(X) is an algebra and X is compact it is enough).

The nontrivial part follows from Theorem 7.1 because if X has sufficiently many wap functions, then (S, X) has sufficiently many reflexive representations.

Corollary 7.3. Every metrizable compact WAP system is Eberlein.

Theorem 7.4. For every semitopological monoid S the function $f : S \to \mathbb{R}$ is wap iff f is a matrix coefficient of a weak continuous antihomomorphism $S \to \Theta(V)$ for a reflexive V. That is, there exist $v \in V$ and $\psi \in V^*$ such that $f(s) = \langle vs, \psi \rangle$.

If S = G is a group then $h(G) \subset \text{Iso}(V)$ (and h is strongly continuous).

Proof. Apply Theorem 7.1 to the flow (S, S). Then for $f \in WAP(S)$ there exists a reflexive V and a representation $h: S \to \Theta(V)$, $\alpha: S \to B(V^*)$ such that $f(s) = \langle v, \alpha(s) \rangle$ for a suitable $v \in V$. Denote by e the identity of S. Then $f = m_{v,\psi}$ where $\psi = \alpha(e)$.

If we wish to get a homomorphism, just consider $h: S \to \Theta(V)^{opp} = \Theta(V^*)$.

Fact 7.5. ([67] and [46]) Let S be a semitopological semigroup. The following are equivalent:

- (i) S is embedded into a compact semitopological monoid.
- (ii) There exists a reflexive space E such that S is embedded (as a semitopological subsemigroup) into Θ(E)_w.

Therefore, compact semitopological semigroups are exactly the class of all closed subsemigroups of $\Theta(E)_w$ for some reflexive V.

Proof. (i) ⇒ (ii) We can suppose that S is a monoid. Consider $X := S^W$ the universal semitopological compactification of S. Then the corresponding universal map $u_W : S \to S^W$ is a topological embedding by (i) and hence, the action (S, S^W) is *left strict*. That is, there is no strictly coarser topology on S under which S is a semitopological semigroup and S^W is still a semitopological S-flow. By Theorem 7.1 there exists a separating family (h_i, α_i) of reflexive V_i -representations $(i \in I)$ of (S, S^W) . Then the l_2 -sum of these representations defined on the Banach space $V := (\sum_i V_{i \in I})_{l_2}$ will induce a weakly continuous antihomomorphism $h : S \to \Theta(V)$. Since the original action is left strict, it is easy to show that h must be a topological embedding. Define $E := V^*$. It is clear that the antihomomorphism h defines the desired homomorphism $h : S \to \Theta(V)^{opp} = \Theta(V^*) = \Theta(E)$. (ii) ⇒ (i) Use Lemma 6.16. By Theorem 2.7, Iso $(V)_s =$ Iso $(V)_w$ for every reflexive V. Therefore we obtain

Fact 7.6. Let G be a topological group. The following are equivalent:

- (i) $G \to G^W$ is an embedding.
- (ii) G is a topological subgroup of the group $Is(V)_s$ (endowed with the strong operator topology) of all linear isometries for a suitable reflexive V.

We next recall a version of Lawson's theorem and a soft geometric proof using representations of dynamical systems on reflexive spaces.

Theorem 7.7. (Ellis-Lawson Joint Continuity Theorem) Let G be a subgroup of a compact semitopological monoid S. Suppose that $S \times X \to X$ is a separately continuous action with compact X. Then the action $G \times X \to X$ is jointly continuous (and G is a topological group).

Proof. A sketch of the proof from [49]: We show the joint continuity of $G \times X \to X$ (for the last part take X := S and the natural action $G \times S \to S$). It is easy to see by Grothendieck's Lemma (Theorem 6.5) that C(X) = WAP(X). Hence (S, X)is a weakly almost periodic system. By Theorem 6.15 the proof can be reduced to the particular case where $(S, X) = (\Theta(V)^{op}, B_{V^*})$ for some reflexive Banach space Vwith G := Iso(V), where $\Theta(V)^{op}$ is endowed with the weak operator topology. By Theorem 2.7, the weak and strong operator topologies coincide on Iso (V) for reflexive V. In particular, G acts continuously on B_{V^*} .

As a corollary one gets the classical result of Ellis.

Theorem 7.8. (Ellis' Theorem) Every compact semitopological group is a topological group.

8. Some parallel hierarchies

8.1. Representation theorems.

Theorem 8.1. (Small families of functions) Let X be a compact S-space and let $F \subset C(X)$ be a norm bounded S-invariant subset of C(X).

- (1) (F, S, X) admits a Rosenthal representation iff F is an eventually fragmented family iff $cl_p(F) \subset \mathcal{F}(X)$ iff F does not contain an independent subsequence.
- (2) (F, S, X) admits an Asplund representation iff F is a fragmented family iff the envelope cl_p(F) of F is a fragmented family.
- (3) (F, S, X) admits a reflexive representation iff $cl_p(F) \subset C(X)$ iff F has DLP on X.

Proof. (3) Already was proved in Section 6.3.

(1) and (2): The "only if part" is a consequence of the characterizations of Asplund and Rosenthal spaces in terms of fragmented and eventually fragmented families, Theorems 12.5.4 and 12.11.4. $\hfill \Box$

Recall the definitions of HNS and tame compact dynamical systems.

Definition 8.2. We say that a compact S-system X is hereditarily non-sensitive (HNS, in short) if one of the following equivalent conditions are satisfied:

- (1) For every closed nonempty subset $A \subset X$ and for every entourage ε from the unique compatible uniformity on X there exists an open subset O of X such that $A \cap O$ is nonempty and $s(A \cap O)$ is ε -small for every $s \in S$.
- (2) The family of translations $\tilde{S} := \{\tilde{s} : X \to X\}_{s \in S}$ is a fragmented family of maps.
- (3) E(S, X) is a fragmented family of maps from X into itself.

It is equivalent to the condition that fS is fragmented for every $f \in C(X)$.

Definition 8.3. A compact separately continuous S-system X is said to be *tame* if the translation $\lambda_a : X \to X$, $x \mapsto ax$ is a fragmented map for every element $a \in E(X)$ of the enveloping semigroup.

It is equivalent to saying that fS is free of independent subsequences for every $f \in C(X)$ or that fS is eventually fragmented.

Theorem 8.4.

- (1) (S, X) is a tame (continuous) system if and only if (S, X) is weakly (respectively, strongly) Rosenthal-approximable.
- (2) (S, X) is a HNS (continuous) system if and only if (S, X) is weakly (respectively, strongly) Asplund-approximable.

If X is metrizable then in (1) and (2) "approximable" can be replaced by "representable".

Theorem 8.5. A compact S-system X is RN (WRN, Eberlein) iff there exists a bounded S-invariant X-separating family $F \subset C(X)$ which is fragmented (resp.: even-tually fragmented, DLP).

In the following table we encapsulate some features of the trinity: dynamical systems, enveloping semigroups, and Banach representations. Here X is a compact metrizable G-space and E(X) denotes the corresponding enveloping semigroup. The symbol f stands for an arbitrary function in C(X) and $fG = \{f \circ g : g \in G\}$ denotes its orbit. Finally, cl(fG) is the pointwise closure of fG in \mathbb{R}^X .

DS	Dynamical characterization	Enveloping semigroup	Banach representation
WAP	$\operatorname{cl}(fG)$ is a subset of $C(X)$	Every element is continuous	Reflexive
HNS	$\operatorname{cl}(fG)$ is metrizable	E(X) is metrizable	Asplund
Tame	$\operatorname{cl}(fG)$ is Fréchet	Every element is Baire 1	Rosenthal

TABLE 1. The hierarchy of Banach representations

9. Some examples

Example 9.1.

(1) Let X = [0, 1] be the unit interval. Consider the cascade (\mathbb{Z}, X) generated by the homeomorphism $\sigma(x) = x^2$. Then (\mathbb{Z}, X) , as a dynamical system, is RN and not Eberlein (not WAP). To see this observe that the pair of sequences $x_n = 1 - \frac{1}{n}$ in X = [0, 1] and $\sigma^m \in G$ with $\sigma^m(x) = x^{2^m}$ does not satisfy DLP. The corresponding limits are 0 and 1. This means that $(\mathbb{Z}, [0, 1])$ is not Eberlein. The enveloping semigroup $E(\mathbb{Z}, [0, 1])$ is metrizable being homeomorphic to the two-point compactification of \mathbb{Z} . Hence, by [30], $(\mathbb{Z}, [0, 1])$ is RN. The sequence $\{\sigma^m : [0, 1] \to [0, 1]\}_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a fragmented family which does not satisfy DLP.

(2) $\chi_{\mathbb{N}} : \mathbb{Z} \to \{0, 1\}$ is not a WAP function. Indeed, it does not satisfy DLP. Choose $s_n := n, x_m := -m$. Then

$$\lim_{m} \lim_{n} f(n-m) = 1 \neq 0 = \lim_{n} \lim_{m} f(n-m)$$

The "simple signal"

 $\cdots 000111 \cdots$

is not reflexively representable (as a matrix coefficient). However it can be represented on an Asplund space.

- (3) Let P_0 be the set [0, c) and P_1 the set [c, 1); let z be a point in [0, 1) (identified with \mathbb{T}) via the rotation R_{α} we get the binary bisequence $u_n, n \in \mathbb{Z}$ defined by $u_n = 0$ when $R_{\alpha}^n(z) \in P_0, u_n = 1$ otherwise. These are called *Sturmian* codings. With $c = 1 - \alpha$ we retrieve the previous example. For example, when $\alpha := \frac{\sqrt{5}-1}{2}$ and $c = 1 - \alpha$ the corresponding sequence, computed at z = 0, is called the *Fibonacci bisequence*.
- (4) The Sturmian symbolic dynamical \mathbb{Z} -system $(\sigma, X) \subset \Omega = \{0, 1\}^{\mathbb{Z}}$ is WRN but not RN (being tame but not HNS). The sequence $\{\sigma^n : X \to X\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}}$ is an eventually fragmented but not fragmented family. As a (nontrivial) corollary: Every (irrational slope) "cutting bisequence" (like Fibonacci) is Rosenthal representable (but not Asplund representable).

The corresponding enveloping semigroup of (σ, X) topologically is a copy of $E = \mathbb{Z} \cup Y$, where Y is the double arrow space. So, E topologically is Frechet but not metrizable ([23], Pikula [61], Aujogue [2]). This means that (σ, X) is tame but not HNS.

- (5) The natural action of the Polish group $H_+[0,1]$ of all increasing homeomorphisms of [0,1] on [0,1] is tame but not HNS. The family $H_+[0,1]$ of functions (or its dense subsequence) is eventually fragmented but not fragmented.
- (6) The Bernoulli shift system $(\mathbb{Z}, \{0, 1\}^{\mathbb{Z}})$ is not WRN (equivalently, nontame). In fact, it is well known that the enveloping semigroup of this system can be identified with $\beta \mathbb{Z}$. Now use the dynamical version of BFT dichotomy (Fact 14.8).

Another way to see that the shift system is not tame is the well known fact that the sequence of projections

$${\pi_m : \{0,1\}^{\mathbb{Z}} \to \{0,1\}}_{m \in \mathbb{Z}}$$

is independent. Hence by Theorem 12.10 this family fails to be eventually fragmented.

(7) In his paper Ellis (93), following Furstenberg's classical work (63), investigates the projective action of $GL(n, \mathbb{R})$ on the projective space \mathbb{P}^{n-1} . It follows from his results that the corresponding enveloping semigroup is not first countable. However, in a later work Akin (98) studies the action of $G = GL(n, \mathbb{R})$ on the sphere \mathbb{S}^{n-1} and shows that here the enveloping semigroup is first countable (but not metrizable). It follows that the dynamical systems $D_1 = (G, \mathbb{P}^{n-1})$ and $D_2 = (G, \mathbb{S}^{n-1})$ are tame but not HNS. Note that $E(D_1)$ is Fréchet, being a continuous image of a first countable compact space, namely $E(D_2)$.

10. More applications of fragmentability

10.1. When does weak imply strong ? A not necessarily compact G-system X is called quasiminimal if $int(cl(Gz)) \neq \emptyset$ for every $z \in X$. 1-orbit systems and compact minimal G-systems are quasiminimal.

Theorem 10.1. Let $G \leq \text{Iso}(V)$ be a subgroup, X a bounded, (weak, norm)-fragmented G-invariant subset of a Banach space V. Then for every, not necessarily closed, quasiminimal G-subspace (e.g., the orbits) Y of X the weak and norm topologies coincide.

Proof.

This result together with a characterization of PCP (Theorem 12.12) yield:

Theorem 10.2. [46, 49] Let V be a Banach space with PCP (e.g., reflexive, RNP, or the dual of Asplund). Then

- (1) norm topology = weak topology on every orbit Gv for every $G \leq \text{Iso}(V)$.
- (2) The weak and the strong operator topologies coincide on Iso(V).
- (3) Every weakly continuous (co)homomorphism $h: G \to \text{Iso}(V)$ is strongly continuous.

10.2. Adjoint continuity property of Asplund spaces.

Theorem 10.3. Let V be an Asplund space. Then for every subgroup $G \subset \text{Iso}(V)$ the dual action $V \times G \to V$ is norm continuous.

Proof. Similar to Theorem 10.2. Use the characterization of Asplund spaces in terms of fragmentability. \Box

More generally, this is true for any continuous linear topological group action (not necessarily by isometries).

Theorem 10.4. [49, Corollary 6.9] Let V be an Asplund Banach space and π : $V \times G \to V$ a linear jointly continuous action. Then the dual action $\pi^* : G \times V^* \to V^*$ is also jointly continuous.

The regular representation $\mathbb{T} \to \text{Iso}(V)$ of the circle group $G := \mathbb{T}$ on $V := C(\mathbb{T})$ is continuous but not adjoint continuous. Consider the Banach space $V := l_1$ and the topological subgroup $G := S(\mathbb{N})$ ("permutations of coordinates") of Iso (l_1) . Then we have a natural continuous representation of the symmetric topological group $S(\mathbb{N})$ on l_1 which is not adjoint continuous.

10.3. Helmer's theorem. One more application is a quick proof of WAP(G) \subset $UC(G) := LUC(G) \cap RUC(G)$, Helmer's theorem. In fact, we can show more.

Theorem 10.5. [49] WAP(G) \subset Asp(G) \subset UC(G) for every topological group G.

Proof. Let $f \in \operatorname{Asp}(G)$. The function f coincides with a matrix coefficient $m_{v,\psi}$ for a suitable strongly continuous antihomomorphism $h: G \to \operatorname{Iso}(V)_s$, where V is Asplund. In particular, v is a norm continuous vector. By Theorem 10.4 the orbit $G\psi$ is light. Hence, ψ is a norm continuous vector. By Fact 5.3.2, $f = m_{v,\psi}$ is both left and right uniformly continuous.

10.4. Ryll-Nardzewski's fixed point Theorem.

Theorem 10.6. (Ryll-Nardzewski) Let V be a locally convex vector space equipped with its uniform structure ξ . Let (Q, τ) be an affine compact S-system such that

- (1) (Q, τ) is a weakly compact subset in V.
- (2) S is ξ -distal on Q.

Then Q contains a fixed point.

Proof. (Sketch) We can suppose that Q = cl(coX), where X is a compact minimal S-system. Weakly compact set X is ξ -fragmented (generalized Namioka's Theorem). Using the fragmentability one may lift the distality of X from the topology ξ to τ . So, (S, X) is distal. Therefore, the proof can be reduced to the following theorem of H. Furstenberg.

Theorem 10.7. (Furstenberg) Every distal compact dynamical system admits an invariant probability measure.

11. Representations of topological groups II

Theorem 11.1.

- (1) $L_4[0,1] \in \mathbf{Ref}_r;$
- (2) $L_4[0,1] \notin \operatorname{Hilb}_{\mathbf{r}}$.

[Chaatit 1996] The additive group of every separable stable (Krivine-Maurey [39]) Banach space belongs to $\mathbf{Ref_r}$.

 \implies (1)

(direct) proof of (1):

Lemma 11.2. G is reflexively representable iff WAP(G) separates points and closed subsets.

Lemma 11.3. $\phi: L_{2k} \to \mathbf{R} \quad v \mapsto e^{-\|v\|} \text{ is wap.}$

(Grothendieck's DLP) A bounded function $f \in C(G)$ is wap iff $\lim_{m} \lim_{m} f(g_n h_m) = \lim_{m} \lim_{m} f(g_n h_m)$ whenever all the limits exist.

Exercise 11.4. If G admits a left (or, right) invariant metric with DLP then $G \in \mathbf{Ref_r}$.

• $(L_{2k}(\mu), ||||)$ $(k \in \mathbf{N})$ has the DLP.

$$\begin{aligned} \|u_n + v_m\|^{2k} &= \|u_n\|^{2k} + \sum_{i=1}^{2k-1} C_{2k}^i \int u_n^{2k-i} v_m^i dt + \|v_m\|^{2k} \\ &\int u_n^{2k-i} v_m^i dt = \langle u_n^{2k-i}, v_m^i \rangle \\ &u_n^{2k-i} \in L_{\frac{2k}{2k-i}} \quad v_m^i \in L_{\frac{2k}{i}} = L_{\frac{2k}{2k-i}}^*. \end{aligned}$$

- Use DLP (Theorem 6.7) for $B(V) \times B(V^*) \rightarrow [-1, 1]$ with reflexive V.
 - (2) $L_4[0,1] \notin \mathbf{Hilb_r}$

Theorem 11.5 (Aharoni-Maurey-Mityagin 1985). For 2 , an infinite $dimensional <math>L_p(\mu)$ space is not uniformly embedded into a Hilbert space.

Lemma \forall metric subgroup G of $\operatorname{Iso}(H)_s$ $\exists (G, \mathcal{L}) \stackrel{unif}{\hookrightarrow} H.$

> (a): $||v_n|| = \frac{1}{2^n}$ (b): $\{\tilde{v}_n : \text{Iso}(H) \to H, \quad g \mapsto gv_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ generates the left uniformity on Iso(H).

$$\operatorname{Iso} (H)_s \stackrel{unif}{\hookrightarrow} \prod_n B_{\frac{1}{2^n}} \stackrel{unif}{\hookrightarrow} (\sum_n (H)_n)_{l_2} \longleftrightarrow H$$
$$\implies \qquad \boxed{L_p[0,1] \notin \operatorname{\mathbf{Hilb}}_{\mathbf{r}} \quad p > 2} \quad \Longrightarrow (2)$$

11.1. About $H_+[0,1]$.

Theorem 11.6. The group $G := H_+[0,1]$ is Rosenthal representable.

Proof. Consider the natural action of G on the closed interval X := [0, 1] and the corresponding enveloping semigroup E = E(G, X). Every element of G is a (strictly) increasing self-homeomorphism of [0, 1]. Hence every element $p \in E$ is a nondecreasing function $[0, 1] \rightarrow [0, 1]$. So, Baire 1 function. This means that the G-system X is tame. By Theorem 15.3 we have a faithful representation (h, α) of (G, X) on a separable Rosenthal space V. Therefore we obtain a G-embedding $\alpha : X \hookrightarrow (V^*, w^*)$. It follows, by the minimality properties of the compact open topology (Lemma 4.22), that h is an embedding. Thus $h \circ inv : G \rightarrow Iso(V)$ is the required topological group embedding.

Theorem 11.7. $H_+[0,1]$ is Asplund-trivial (hence, also reflexively-trivial).

Proof. Denote by $j: G \to G^{Asp}$ and $i: G \to G^{UC}$ the *G*-compactifications (*i* necessarily is proper because UC(G) separates the points and closed subsets) induced by the Banach *G*-algebras $Asp(G) \subset UC(G)$ (Theorem 10.5). There exists a canonical onto *G*-map $\pi: G^{UC} \to G^{Asp}$ such that the following diagram of compact *G*-systems is commutative:



We have to show that G^{Asp} is trivial for $G = H_+[0, 1]$. One of the main tools for the proof is the following identification.

Lemma 11.8. [Uspenskij] The dynamical system G^{UC} is isomorphic to the G-space (G, Ω) . Here Ω denotes the compact space of all curves in $[0, 1] \times [0, 1]$ which connect the points (0, 0) and (1, 1) and "never go down", equipped with the Hausdorff metric. These are the relations $\omega \subset [0, 1] \times [0, 1]$ where for each $t \in [0, 1]$, $\omega(t)$ is either a point or a vertical closed segment.

Moreover, the natural action of $G = H_+[0,1]$ on Ω is $(g\omega)(t) = g(\omega(t))$ (by composition of relations on [0,1]).

We first note that every "zig-zag curve" (i.e. a curve z which consists of a finite number of horizontal and vertical pieces) is an element of Ω . In particular the curves γ_c with exactly one vertical segment defined as $\gamma_c(t) = 0$ for every $t \in [0, c)$, $\gamma_c(c) = \{c\} \times [0, 1]$ and $\gamma(t) = 1$ for every $t \in (c, 1]$, are elements of $\Omega = G^{UC}$. Note that the curve γ_1 is a fixed point for the left G action. We let $\theta = \pi(\gamma_1)$ be its image in G^{Asp} . Of course θ is a fixed point in G^{Asp} . We will show that $\theta = j(e)$ and since the G-orbit of j(e) is dense in G^{Asp} this will show that G^{Asp} is a **singleton**.

The idea is to show that zig-zag curves are "Asp-proximal" in G^{UC} . Meaning that their images in G^{Asp} coincide. Choosing a sequence z_n of zig-zag curves which converges in the Hausdorff metric to i(e) in G^{UC} we will have $\pi(z_n) = \pi(\gamma_1) = \theta$ for each n. This will imply that indeed $j(e) = \pi(i(e)) = \pi(\lim_{n \to \infty} z_n) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \pi(z_n) = \theta$.

First we show that $\pi(\gamma_1) = \pi(\gamma_c)$ for any 0 < c < 1. Assuming the contrary there exists $f \in C(G^{Asp})$ such that $f(\pi(\gamma_1)) \neq f(\pi(\gamma_c))$. Dynamical system (G, G^{Asp}) is Asplund. So, there exists an Asplund representation (F, h, α) of F := fG on an Asplund space V. So, there exists $v \in V$ such that

$$f(x) = \langle v, \alpha(x) \rangle \quad \forall x \in G^{Asp}.$$

Let $p \in G^{UC}$ be the curve defined by p(t) = t in the interval [0, c] and by p(t) = cfor every $t \in [c, 1)$. Pick a sequence s_n of elements in G such that s_n converges to eand $s_n c < c$. It is easy to choose a sequence g_n in G such that $g_n s_n c$ converges to 0 and $g_n c$ converges to 1. Then $g_n p \to \gamma_c$, $g_n s_n p \to \gamma_1$ (see the picture below). Since V is Asplund the dual action $G \times V^* \to V^*$ is norm continuous. (Theorem 10.3) In particular, $||s_n \alpha(\pi(p)) - \alpha(\pi(p))|| \to 0$. This implies that

$$|f(\pi(g_n s_n p)) - f(\pi(g_n p))| =$$

$$= | \langle v, \alpha(\pi(g_n s_n p)) \rangle - \langle v, \alpha(\pi(g_n p)) \rangle | =$$

$$= | \langle vg_n, s_n \alpha(\pi(p)) - \alpha(\pi(p)) \rangle | \leq$$

$$\leq ||vg_n|| \cdot ||s_n \alpha(\pi(p)) - \alpha(\pi(p))|| \to 0.$$

Hence, $f(\pi(\gamma_1)) = f(\pi(\gamma_c)).$

We could say instead of these concrete computations that, as we know, every matrix coefficient on Asplund space, being an Asplund function, is (right and) left uniformly continuous. Here we have a MATRIX COEFFICIENT – "tango" pairing two vectors $v \in V$ and $\alpha \pi(p) \in V^*$; i.e.,

$$m(v, \alpha(\pi(p)) : G \to \mathbb{R}, g \mapsto f(g\alpha(\pi(p))).$$



Denote $\theta = \pi(\gamma_1) = \pi(\gamma_c)$. Using similar arguments construct a sequence $z_n \in G^{UC}$ of zig-zag curves which converges to i(e) and such that $\pi(z_n) = \theta$ for every n.

In view of the discussion above this construction completes the proof of the theorem.

Remark 11.9. Note that the WAP-triviality of some other natural groups were established very recently. For the homeomorphisms group of the pseudo-arc and Lelek's fan, see [3]. For the orientation preserving homeomorphisms of the circle $H_+(\mathbb{T})$ (in fact, Asplund-triviality), see [29].

Remark 11.10. Some additional useful references: [64, 19, 18, 74, 4].

12. Appendix A: Fragmentability and Banach spaces

The concept of fragmentability originally comes from Banach space theory and has several applications in Topology, and more recently also in Topological Dynamics.

Definition 12.1. Let (X, τ) be a topological space and (Y, μ) a uniform space.

- (1) [36] X is (τ, μ) -fragmented by a (typically, not continuous) function $f : X \to Y$ if for every nonempty subset A of X and every $\varepsilon \in \mu$ there exists an open subset O of X such that $O \cap A$ is nonempty and the set $f(O \cap A)$ is ε -small in Y. We also say in that case that the function f is fragmented. Notation: $f \in \mathcal{F}(X, Y)$, whenever the uniformity μ is understood. If $Y = \mathbb{R}$ then we write simply $\mathcal{F}(X)$.
- (2) [23] We say that a family of functions $F = \{f : (X, \tau) \to (Y, \mu)\}$ is fragmented if condition (1) holds simultaneously for all $f \in F$. That is, $f(O \cap A)$ is ε -small for every $f \in F$.
- (3) [29] We say that F is an eventually fragmented family if every infinite subfamily $C \subset F$ contains an infinite fragmented subfamily $K \subset C$.

In Definition 12.1.1 when Y = X, $f = id_X$ and μ is a metric uniform structure, we get the usual definition of fragmentability (more precisely, (τ, μ) -fragmentability) in the sense of Jayne and Rogers [37]. Implicitly it already appears in a paper of Namioka and Phelps [56].

Remark 12.2. [23, 25]

- (1) It is enough to check the condition of Definition 12.1 for closed subsets $A \subset X$ and for $\epsilon \in \mu$ from a subbase γ of μ (that is, the finite intersections of the elements of γ form a base of the uniform structure μ).
- (2) When X and Y are Polish spaces, $f: X \to Y$ is fragmented iff f is a Baire class 1 function.
- (3) When X is compact and (Y, ρ) metrizable uniform space then $f : X \to Y$ is fragmented iff f has a *point of continuity property* (i.e., for every closed nonempty $A \subset X$ the restriction $f_{|A} : A \to Y$ has a continuity point).
- (4) When Y is compact with its unique compatible uniformity μ then $p: X \to Y$ is fragmented if and only if $f \circ p: X \to \mathbb{R}$ has a point of continuity property for every $f \in C(Y)$.
- (5) A topological space (X, τ) is scattered iff X is (τ, μ) -fragmented, for every uniform structure μ on the set X.
- (6) Let (X, τ) be a separable metrizable space and (Y, ρ) a pseudometric space. Suppose that $f: X \to Y$ is a fragmented onto map. Then Y is separable.

Lemma 12.3.

- (1) Suppose F is a compact space, X is Cech-complete, Y is a uniform space and we are given a separately continuous map $w : F \times X \to Y$. Then the naturally associated family $\tilde{F} := \{\tilde{f} : X \to Y\}_{f \in F}$ is fragmented, where $\tilde{f}(x) = w(f, x)$.
- (2) Suppose F is a compact metrizable space, X is hereditarily Baire and M is separable and metrizable. Assume we are given a map w : F × X → M such that every x̃ : F → M, f ↦ w(f, x) is continuous and y : X → M is continuous at every ỹ ∈ Y for some dense subset Y of F. Then the family F is fragmented.
- (3) (version of Osgood's theorem) Let $f_n : X \to \mathbb{R}$ be a pointwise convergent sequence of continuous functions on a hereditarily Baire space X. Then $F := \{f_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a fragmented family.

Proof. (1): There exists a collection of uniform maps $\{\varphi_i : Y \to M_i\}_{i \in I}$ into metrizable uniform spaces M_i which generates the uniformity on Y. Now for every closed subset $A \subset X$ apply Namioka's joint continuity theorem to the separately continuous map $\varphi_i \circ w : F \times A \to M_i$ and take into account Remark 12.2.1.

(2): Since every $\tilde{x} : F \to M$ is continuous, the natural map $j : X \to C(F, M), j(x) = \tilde{x}$ is well defined. Every closed nonempty subset $A \subset X$ is Baire. By [30, Proposition 2.4], $j|_A : A \to C(F, M)$ has a point of continuity, where C(F, M) carries the sup-metric. Hence, $\tilde{F}_A = \{\tilde{f} \upharpoonright_A : A \to M\}_{f \in F}$ is equicontinuous at some point $a \in A$. This implies that the family \tilde{F} is fragmented.

(3) follows from (2) applied to the evaluation map $w : F \times X \to \mathbb{R}$, where $F := \{f\} \cup \{f_n : n \in \mathbb{N}\} \subset \mathbb{R}^X$ with $f := \lim f_n$, the pointwise limit.

Remark 12.4. Let us briefly describe one of the ideas linking fragmentability and dynamical systems. Suppose that X is a weak^{*} compact dual ball of some Banach space V. One of the major themes in Banach space theory is the study of the relationship between the norm and the weak^{*} topologies on $X \subset V^*$. When these two coincide, we say that X is a Kadec subset of V^{*}. If moreover X is a subsystem (under some action by linear isometries) then X, as a dynamical system, is equicontinuous. In general, as an attempt to measure "the level of equicontinuity", we can ask how close are the two natural topologies on X inherited from V^{*}. A more concrete, but sufficiently flexible, question is: for which dynamical system representations is the natural mapping $1_X : (X, weak^*) \to (X, norm)$ fragmented ? The latter means that every nonempty subset of X admits relatively weak^{*} open nonempty subsets with arbitrarily small diameters. Every point of continuity of 1_X is a point of equicontinuity of the dynamical system X.

12.1. Banach spaces defined by fragmentability. We recall the definitions of three important classes of Banach spaces: Asplund, Rosenthal and PCP. Each of them can be characterized in terms of fragmentability.

12.1.1. Asplund Banach spaces. Recall that a Banach space V is an Asplund space if the dual of every separable linear subspace is separable.

In the following result the equivalence of (1), (2) and (3) is well known and (4) is a reformulation of (3) in terms of fragmented families.

Theorem 12.5. [56, 55] Let V be a Banach space. The following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) V is an Asplund space.
- (2) V^* has the Radon-Nikodým property.
- (3) Every bounded subset A of the dual V^* is (weak*,norm)-fragmented.
- (4) B is a fragmented family of real valued maps on the compactum B^* .

Reflexive spaces and spaces of the type $c_0(\Gamma)$ are Asplund. By [56] the Banach space C(K) for compact K is Asplund iff K is a scattered compactum (see also Lemma 12.2.4). Namioka's Joint Continuity Theorem implies that every weakly compact set in a Banach space is norm fragmented, [55]. This explains why every reflexive space is Asplund.

12.1.2. Banach spaces not containing l_1 .

Definition 12.6. Let $f_n : X \to \mathbb{R}$ be a uniformly bounded sequence of functions on a set X. Following Rosenthal we say that this sequence is an l_1 -sequence on X if there exists a real constant a > 0 such that for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and choices of real scalars c_1, \ldots, c_n we have

$$a \cdot \sum_{i=1}^{n} |c_i| \le ||\sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i f_i||.$$

This is the same as requiring that the closed linear span in $l_{\infty}(X)$ of the sequence f_n be linearly homeomorphic to the Banach space l_1 . In fact, in this case the map

$$l_1 \to l_\infty(X), \ (c_n) \to \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} c_n f_n$$

is a linear homeomorphic embedding.

Definition 12.7. A sequence f_n of real valued functions on a set X is said to be *independent* if there exist real numbers a < b such that

$$\bigcap_{n \in P} f_n^{-1}(-\infty, a) \cap \bigcap_{m \in M} f_m^{-1}(b, \infty) \neq \emptyset$$

for all finite disjoint subsets P, M of \mathbb{N} .

Definition 12.8. A Banach space V is said to be *Rosenthal* if it does not contain an isomorphic copy of l_1 .

Every Asplund space is Rosenthal (because l_1^* is the nonseparable space l_{∞}).

Definition 12.9. Let X be a topological space. We say that a subset $F \subset C(X)$ is a *Rosenthal family* (for X) if F is norm bounded and the pointwise closure $\operatorname{cl}_{p}(F)$ of F in \mathbb{R}^{X} consists of fragmented maps, that is, $\operatorname{cl}_{p}(F) \subset \mathcal{F}(X)$.

The following useful result synthesizes some known results.

It is based on results of Rosenthal [65], Talagrand [68, Theorem 14.1.7] and van Dulst [11]. In [25, Prop. 4.6] we show why eventual fragmentability of F can be included in the following list.

Theorem 12.10. Let X be a compact space and $F \subset C(X)$ a bounded subset. The following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) F does not contain an independent subsequence.
- (2) F does not contain a subsequence equivalent to the unit basis of l_1 .
- (3) Each sequence in F has a pointwise convergent subsequence in \mathbb{R}^X .
- (4) F is a Rosenthal family for X.
- (5) F is an eventually fragmented family.

Theorem 12.11. Let V be a Banach space. The following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) V is a Rosenthal Banach space.
- (2) (E. Saab and P. Saab [66]) Each $x^{**} \in V^{**}$ is a fragmented map when restricted to the weak^{*} compact ball B^* . Equivalently, $B^{**} \subset \mathcal{F}(B^*)$.
- (3) B is a Rosenthal family for the weak^{*} compact unit ball B^* .
- (4) B is an eventually fragmented family of maps on B^* .
- (5) (Haydon [34, Theorem 3.3]) For every weak* compact subset $Y \subset V^*$ the weak* and norm closures of the convex hull co(Y) in V^* coincide: $cl_{w^*}(co(Y)) = cl_{norm}(co(Y))$.

Condition (2) is a reformulation (in terms of fragmented maps) of a criterion from [66] which was originally stated in terms of the point of continuity property. The equivalence of (1), (3) and (4) follows from Theorem 12.10.

12.1.3. Banach spaces with PCP. A Banach space V is said to have the point of continuity property (PCP for short) if every bounded weakly closed subset $C \subset V$ admits a point of continuity of the identity map $(C, weak) \rightarrow (C, norm)$ (see for example Edgar-Wheeler [13] and [37]). Every Banach space with RNP has PCP. In particular, this is true for the duals of Asplund spaces and for reflexive spaces. This concept was studied, among others, by Bourgain and Rosenthal. They show, for instance, that there are separable Banach spaces with PCP which do not satisfy RNP.

Theorem 12.12. (Jayne and Rogers [37]) Let V be a Banach space. The following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) V has PCP.
- (2) Every bounded subset $A \subset V$ is (weak, norm)-fragmented.

12.2. More properties of fragmented families. Here we demonstrate a general principle: the fragmentability of a family of continuous maps on a compact space is "countably-determined". Formally the following theorem is new, though its proof (the part $(3) \Rightarrow (1)$) is inspired by a result of Namioka [55, Theorem 3.4].

Theorem 12.13. Let $F = \{f_i : X \to Y\}_{i \in I}$ be a bounded family of **continuous** maps from a compact (not necessarily metrizable) space (X, τ) into a pseudometric space (Y, d). The following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) F is a fragmented family of functions on X.
- (2) Every countable subfamily K of F is fragmented.
- (3) For every countable subfamily K of F the pseudometric space $(X, \rho_{K,d})$ is separable, where

$$\rho_{K,d}(x_1, x_2) := \sup_{f \in K} d(f(x_1), f(x_2)).$$

Proof. $(1) \Rightarrow (2)$ is trivial.

 $(2) \Rightarrow (3)$: Let K be a countable subfamily of F. Consider the natural map

$$\pi: X \to Y^K, \pi(x)(f) := f(x).$$

By (2), K is a fragmented family. Thus by Lemma 12.2.6 the map π is (τ, μ_K) -fragmented, where μ_K is the uniformity of d-uniform convergence on $Y^K := \{f : K \to (Y, d)\}$. Then the map π is also (τ, d_K) -fragmented, where d_K is the pseudometric on Y^K defined by

$$d_K(z_1, z_2) := sup_{f \in K} d(z_1(f), z_2(f)).$$

Since d is bounded, $d_K(z_1, z_2)$ is finite and d_K is well-defined. Denote by (X_K, τ_p) the subspace $\pi(X) \subset Y^K$ in pointwise topology. Since $K \subset C(X)$, the induced map $\pi_0 : X \to X_K$ is a continuous map onto the compact space (X_K, τ_p) . Denote by $i : (X_K, \tau_p) \to (Y^K, d_K)$ the inclusion map. So, $\pi = i \circ \pi_0$, where the map π is (τ, d_K) -fragmented. Then by Lemma 12.2.7 we obtain that i is (τ_p, d_K) -fragmented. It immediately follows that the identity map $id : (X_K, \tau_p) \to (X_K, d_K)$ is (τ_p, d_K) -fragmented.

Since K is countable, $(X_K, \tau_p) \subset Y^K$ is metrizable. Therefore, (X_K, τ_p) is second countable (being a metrizable compactum). Now, since d_K is a pseudometric on Y^K , and $id : (X_K, \tau_p) \to (X_K, d_K)$ is (τ_p, d_K) -fragmented, we can apply Lemma 12.2.5. It directly implies that the set X_K is a separable subset of (Y^K, d_K) . This means that $(X, \rho_{K,d})$ is separable.

 $(3) \Rightarrow (1)$: Suppose that F is not fragmented. Thus, there exists a non-empty closed subset $A \subset X$ and an $\varepsilon > 0$ such that for each non-empty open subset $O \subset X$ with $O \cap A \neq \emptyset$ there is some $f \in O$ such that $f(O \cap A)$ is not ε -small in (Y, d). Let V_1 be an arbitrary non-empty relatively open subset in A. There are $a, b \in V_1$ and $f_1 \in F$ such that $d(f_1(a), f_1(b)) > \varepsilon$. Since f_1 is continuous we can choose relatively open subsets V_2, V_3 with $\operatorname{cl}(V_2 \cup V_3) \subset V_1$ such that $d(f(x), f(y)) > \varepsilon$ for every $(x, y) \in V_2 \times V_3$.

By induction we can construct a sequence $\{V_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ of non-empty relatively open subsets in A and a sequence $K := \{f_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ in F such that:

- (i) $\operatorname{cl}(V_{2n} \cup V_{2n+1}) \subset V_n$ for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$;
- (ii) $d(f_n(x), f_n(y)) > \varepsilon$ for every $(x, y) \in V_{2n} \times V_{2n+1}$.

We claim that $(X, \rho_{K,d})$ is not separable, where

$$\rho_{K,d}(x_1, x_2) := \sup_{f \in K} d(f(x_1), f(x_2)).$$

In fact, for each branch

$$\alpha := V_1 \supset V_{n_1} \supset V_{n_2} \supset \cdots$$

where for each $i, n_{i+1} = 2n_i$ or $2n_i + 1$, by compactness of X one may choose an element

$$x_{\alpha} \in \bigcap_{i \in \mathbb{N}} \operatorname{cl}(V_{n_i}).$$

If $x = x_{\alpha}$ and $y = x_{\beta}$ come from different branches, then there is an $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $x \in \operatorname{cl}(V_{2n})$ and $y \in \operatorname{cl}(V_{2n+1})$ or (vice versa). In any case it follows from (ii) and the continuity of f_n that $d(f_n(x), f_n(y)) \geq \varepsilon$, hence $\rho_{K,d}(x, y) \geq \varepsilon$. Since

there are uncountably many branches we conclude that A and hence also X are not $\rho_{K,d}$ -separable.

Definition 12.14. [16, 49] Let X be a compact space and $F \subset C(X)$ a norm bounded family of continuous real valued functions on X. Then F is said to be an Asplund family for X if for every countable subfamily K of F the pseudometric space $(X, \rho_{K,d})$ is separable, where

$$\rho_{K,d}(x_1, x_2) := \sup_{f \in K} |f(x_1) - f(x_2)|.$$

Any Asplund family for a compact space X can be viewed, by [16, Lemma 1.5.3], as a particular case of the more general concept of an Asplund set in the Banach space C(X).

Corollary 12.15. Let X be a compact space and $F \subset C(X)$ a norm bounded family of continuous real valued functions on X. Then F is fragmented if and only if F is an Asplund family for X.

Theorem 12.16. Let $F = \{f_i : X \to Y\}_{i \in I}$ be a family of continuous maps from a compact (not necessarily metrizable) space (X, τ) into a pseudouniform space (Y, μ) . Then F is fragmented if and only if every countable subfamily $A \subset F$ is fragmented.

Proof. The proof can be reduced to Theorem 12.13. Every pseudouniform space can be uniformly approximated by pseudometric spaces. Using Lemma 12.2.1 we can suppose that (Y, μ) is pseudometrizable; i.e. there exists a pseudometric d such that $\operatorname{unif}(d) = \mu$. Moreover, replacing d by the uniformly equivalent metric $\frac{d}{1+d}$ we can suppose that $d \leq 1$.

12.3. The natural affine extension map $T : b\mathcal{B}_1(X) \to b\mathcal{B}_1(B^*)$.

Definition 12.17. Let X be a topological space.

- (1) A function $f: X \to \mathbb{R}$ is said to be Baire 1 if $f^{-1}(O)$ is an F_{σ} in X for every open $O \subset X$. Notation: $f \in \mathcal{B}_1(X)$.
- (2) Denote by $\mathcal{B}_1^l(X)$ the set of all pointwise limits of sequences of continuous functions on X.
- (3) Bounded functions in $\mathcal{B}_1(X)$ and $\mathcal{B}_1^l(X)$ are denoted by $b\mathcal{B}_1(X)$ and $b\mathcal{B}_1^l(X)$.

Always, $\mathcal{B}_1^l(X) \subset \mathcal{B}_1(X)$ (van Dulst p. 137 for every X) and $\mathcal{B}_1(X) \subset \mathcal{F}(X)$, for every hereditarily Baire space [7, Lemma 1C(c)].

Below X be a compact space. It naturally is embedded into $(C(X)^*, w^*)$. This embedding induces a natural injective map

$$T: b\mathcal{B}_1^l(X) \to b\mathcal{B}_1^l(B^*),$$

where B^* , as before, is the weak^{*} compact unit ball of $C(X)^*$. In the definition of T below we will use Riesz representation theorem and Lebesgue's Dominated Convergence Theorem.

For compact X we have $\mathcal{F}(X) = B_r^{\S}$ in terms of [7]. Each $f \in \mathcal{F}(X)$ is universally measurable for every compact space X (see for example [7, Prop. 1F])). Therefore, for every measure $\mu \in B^*$ we can define

$$(Tf)(\mu) := \int f d\mu.$$

This map is well defined. Indeed, first note that when $f \in C(X)$, T(f) = i(f), where

$$i: C(X) \hookrightarrow C(B^*), \ i(f)(\mu) := \langle f, \mu \rangle = \int f d\mu$$

is the canonical isometric inclusion of the corresponding Banach spaces and

 $\langle\,\cdot,\cdot\rangle:C(X)\times C(X)^*\to\mathbb{R}$

is the canonical bilinear mapping. Now if $f \in b\mathcal{B}_1^l(X)$ then by definition f is a pointwise limit of a sequence of continuous functions $h_n \in C(X)$. Since $f: X \to \mathbb{R}$ is a bounded function we can assume in addition that the sequence h_n is uniformly bounded. By Lebesgue's Convergence Theorem it follows that T(f) is a pointwise limit of the sequence $T(h_n) = i(h_n), n \in \mathbb{N}$. Since every $i(h_n) \in C(B^*)$ we conclude (by Definition 12.17) that $T(f) \in \mathcal{B}_1^l(B^*)$. The sequence $i(h_n)$ is uniformly bounded in $C(B^*)$ hence T(f) is a bounded function. This means that $T(f) \in b\mathcal{B}_1^l(B^*)$.

The map T is injective because $T(f)(\delta_x) = f(x)$ for every point mass $\delta_x \in B^*$ $(x \in X)$.

Remark 12.18. Each T(f) for $f \in b\mathcal{B}_1^l(X)$ can be treated as an element of the second dual $C(X)^{**}$ of C(X). Moreover the pointwise topology of $\mathcal{B}_1^l(B^*)$ and the weak*-topology on $C(X)^{**}$ agree on $T(b\mathcal{B}_1^l(X))$.

Lemma 12.19. Let X be a compact space. For every uniformly bounded subset $A \subset b\mathcal{B}_1^l(X)$ the restriction $T|_A$ of the natural injective map

$$T: b\mathcal{B}_1^l(X) \to b\mathcal{B}_1^l(B^*) \cap C(X)^*$$

on A is sequentially continuous. Furthermore, T(A) is also uniformly bounded.

Proof. Lebesgue's Convergence Theorem implies that T is sequentially continuous. The boundedness of T(A) is easy.

Namioka [55] gave a kind of duality between uniform separability and pointwise metrizability.

Theorem 12.20. (Namioka [55, Theorem 4.1]) Let $F \subset \mathbb{R}^X$ be a bounded set of maps. The following are equivalent:

(1) The pseudometric space (X, ρ_F) is separable, where

$$\rho_F(x_1, x_2) := \sup\{|f(x_1) - f(x_2)| : f \in F\}.$$

(2) The pointwise closure $cl_{p}(F)$ is a metrizable subspace of \mathbb{R}^{X} .

Proof. (1) \Rightarrow (2) F is an equicontinuous family on the pseudometric space (X, ρ_F) . Then its pointwise closure cl_p(F) is also equicontinuous. So, it follows that the topology of pointwise convergence on X for cl_p(F) is the same as the topology of pointwise convergence on a countable ρ_F -dense subset of X. Hence, cl_p(F) is metrizable.

 $(2) \Rightarrow (1)$ Let $K := \operatorname{cl}_{p}(F)$ be pointwise metrizable. Then C(K) is norm separable. Denote by $\varphi : X \to C(K)$ the induced map defined by $\varphi(x)(f) := f(x)$ for every $f \in C(K)$. Then $\varphi(X) \subset C(K)$ is norm separable. In particular (since $F \subset K$) we obtain that (X, ρ_F) is separable.

Lemma 12.21. (Namioka [55, Theorem 4.4]) Let $F \subset C(K)$ be a bounded family of continuous functions on a compact space K. The following are equivalent:

- (1) F is a fragmented family of functions on K.
- (2) The pseudometric space (K, ρ_A) is separable for every countable $A \subset F$.
- (3) The pointwise closure cl (A) is a metrizable subspace of \mathbb{R}^K for every countable $A \subset F$.

Proof. Combine Theorem 12.21 and Corollary 12.15.

Proposition 12.22. If $F \subset C(X)$ is a countable bounded fragmented family on a compact space X then

- (1) $\operatorname{cl}_{p}(F)$ is a metrizable subset of $b\mathcal{B}_{1}^{l}(X)$.
- (2) the restriction of T on $cl_{p}(F)$ induces a homeomorphism

$$\operatorname{cl}_{p}(F) \to \operatorname{cl}_{p}(T(F)) \subset b\mathcal{B}_{1}^{1}(B^{*}) \cap C(X)^{**}.$$

Proof. (1) $\operatorname{cl}_p(F)$ is a uniformly bounded subset of \mathbb{R}^X because F is bounded. Since F is fragmented we obtain that (X, ρ_F) is separable. So, by Lemma 12.21, $\operatorname{cl}_p(F)$ is metrizable in \mathbb{R}^X . Therefore, every $\phi \in \operatorname{cl}_p(F)$ is a pointwise closure of a subsequence in F. Hence, $\phi \in b\mathcal{B}_1^l(X)$.

(2) In view of Lemma 12.19 the restricted (injective!) map $T : \operatorname{cl}_p(F) \to b\mathcal{B}_1^l(B^*)$ is sequentially continuous. This restriction is even continuous because $\operatorname{cl}_p(F)$ is metrizable by (1). We conclude that the map $T : \operatorname{cl}_p(F) \to b\mathcal{B}_1^l(B^*)$ is a continuous injection, and therefore a homeomorphism, of $\operatorname{cl}_p(F)$ onto its image in $b\mathcal{B}_1^l(B^*)$. \Box

Proposition 12.23. Let X be a compact space and $F \subset C(X)$ be bounded family. The following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) F is a (eventually) fragmented family for X iff F_{B^*} is a (resp., eventually) fragmented family for B^* .
- (2) F is a Rosenthal family for X iff F_{B^*} is a Rosenthal family for B^* .

Proof. (1) Let A be a countable subfamily of F. Then since A is fragmented, Lemma 12.21 implies that $cl(A_X) \subset b\mathcal{B}_1^l(X)$ is metrizable. By Proposition 12.22.2 $cl(A_{B^*})$ is homeomorphic to $cl(A_X)$. Therefore, $cl(A_{B^*}) \subset b\mathcal{B}_1^l(B^*)$ is metrizable, too. Now again by Lemma 12.21 we obtain that A_{B^*} is fragmented. It is true for every countable subfamily of F_{B^*} . Thus, F_{B^*} is fragmented. This proves the "fragmented case". The "eventually fragmented case" is verbatim the same.

(2) is a reformulation of the eventually fragmented case of (1).

Of course if F_{B^*} is fragmented then $F_{P(X)}$ is fragmented, too.

Corollary 12.24. C(K) is Asplund iff the compact space K is scattered.

Proof. Let K is scattered. Then it is fragmented by any uniformity, in particular with respect to the norm of $C(K)^*$. Then Proposition 12.23 guarantees that B^* is also fragmented by the norm. Therefore, C(K) is Asplund.

Second direction comes from the following Exercise.

Exercise 12.25. Let K be a compact space which is norm-fragmented in $C(K)^*$. Show that K is scattered.

Hint: the norm uniformity on $X \subset C(K)^*$ is discrete.

Theorem 12.26. Let $F \subset V$ be a norm bounded subset and $K \subset V^*$ be a weak-star compact subset. Then F is a fragmented family on K iff F is a fragmented family on $Q := \overline{co}(K)$.

Proof. Consider the restriction operator

$$r_K: V \to C(K), \ r_K(v)(x) = \langle v, x \rangle \quad \forall x \in K$$

 $F_K := r_K(F)$ is a fragmented family on K. Then by Proposition 12.23, F_Q is also fragmented on $P(K) \subset B^*$. Now consider the adjoint $r_K^* : C(K)^* \to V^*$. Then $r_K^*(P(K) = Q$.

Corollary 12.27. (Namioka [55, Thm 2.5]) Let $K \subset V^*$ be a weak-star compact subset which is norm fragmented. Then $\overline{co}(K)$ is also norm fragmented.

Proof. Take $F := B_V$.

Lemma 12.28. (Fabian's Lemma [16, Lemma 1.5.3]) Let K be a compact space, let $F \subset B_{C(K)}$ be a nonempty set, and consider on $C(K)^*$ the pseudometric ρ_F defined as

$$\rho_F(\lambda,\mu) = \sup_{f \in F} \langle \lambda - \mu, f \rangle \quad \lambda, \mu \in C(K)^*.$$

Assume that (K, ρ_F) (as a subset of $C(K)^*$) is separable. Then $(C(K)^*, \rho_F)$ is also separable.

Proof. By Theorem 12.20, $cl_p(F) \subset b\mathcal{B}_1^l(X)$ is metrizable. Since $T : cl_p(F) \subset b\mathcal{B}_1^l(X) \to b\mathcal{B}^l(B^*)$ is sequentially continuous we obtain that this map is a homeomorphic embedding. Hence, $T(cl_p(F)) \subset b\mathcal{B}^l(B^*)$ is also metrizable. Again by Theorem 12.20 we obtain that (B^*, ρ_F) is separable. This implies that $(C(K)^*, \rho_F)$ is also separable. \Box

Lemma 12.29. Let F be a fragmented family of real valued functions on (X, μ) . Then co(F) is also fragmented.

Proof. If $f_i(D)$ is ε -small for every $i = 1, \dots, n$ and $\sum_{i=1}^n c_i = 1, c_i > 0$ then $\sum_{i=1}^n c_i f_i(D)$ is ε -small.

13. Appendix B: HNS and tame systems

13.1. Some classes of right topological semigroups and dynamical systems. To the basic classes of right topological semigroups listed in 3.3 above, we add the following two which have naturally arisen in the study of tame and HNS dynamical systems.

Definition 13.1. [23, 25] A compact admissible right topological semigroup P is said to be:

- (1) [25] tame if the left translation $\lambda_a : P \to P$ is a fragmented map for every $a \in P$.
- (2) *HNS-semigroup* if $\{\lambda_a : P \to P\}_{a \in P}$ is a fragmented family of maps.

These classes are closed under factors. We have the inclusions:

 $\{\text{compact semitopological semigroups}\} \subset \{\text{HNS-semigroups}\} \subset \{\text{Tame semigroups}\}$

Lemma 13.2.

- (1) Every compact semitopological semigroup P is a HNS-semigroup.
- (2) Every HNS-semigroup is tame.

(3) If P is a metrizable compact right topological admissible semigroup then P is a HNS-semigroup.

Proof. (1) Apply Lemma 12.3.1 to $P \times P \rightarrow P$.

(2) is trivial.

(3) Apply Lemma 12.3.2 to $P \times P \to P$.

If P is Fréchet, as a topological space, then P is a tame semigroup by Corollary 14.6 below.

13.2. HNS-semigroups, dynamical systems and Asplund Banach spaces.

Definition 13.3. We say that a compact S-system X is hereditarily non-sensitive (HNS, in short) if one of the following equivalent conditions are satisfied:

- (1) For every closed nonempty subset $A \subset X$ and for every entourage ε from the unique compatible uniformity on X there exists an open subset O of X such that $A \cap O$ is nonempty and $s(A \cap O)$ is ε -small for every $s \in S$.
- (2) The family of translations $\tilde{S} := {\tilde{s} : X \to X}_{s \in S}$ is a fragmented family of maps.
- (3) E(S, X) is a fragmented family of maps from X into itself.

The equivalence of (1) and (2) is evident from the definitions. Clearly, (3) implies (2). As to the implication $(2) \Rightarrow (3)$, observe that the pointwise closure of a fragmented family is again a fragmented family, [25, Lemma 2.8].

Note that if S = G is a group then in Definition 13.3.1 one may consider only closed subsets A which are G-invariant (see the proof of [23, Lemma 9.4]).

Lemma 13.4.

- (1) For every S the class of HNS compact S-systems is closed under subsystems, arbitrary products and factors.
- (2) For every HNS compact S-system X the corresponding enveloping semigroup E(X) is HNS both as an S-system and as a semigroup.
- (3) Let P be a HNS-semigroup. Assume that $j : S \to P$ be a continuous homomorphism from a semitopological semigroup S into P such that $j(S) \subset \Lambda(P)$. Then the S-system P is HNS.
- (4) $\{HNS\text{-semigroups}\} = \{enveloping semigroups of HNS systems\}.$

Theorem 13.5. Let V be a Banach space. The following are equivalent:

- (1) V is an Asplund Banach space.
- (2) (Θ^{op}, B^*) is a HNS system.
- (3) \mathcal{E} is a HNS-semigroup.

Proof. (1) \Rightarrow (2): Use Definition 13.3.2 and the following well known characterization of Asplund spaces: V is Asplund iff B^* is $(w^*, norm)$ -fragmented (Fact 12.5).

 $(2) \Rightarrow (1)$ By Fact 12.5 we have to show that B is a fragmented family for B^* . Choose a vector $v \in S_V$. Since Θ^{op} is a fragmented family of self-maps on B^* and as $v: B^* \to \mathbb{R}$ is uniformly continuous we get that the system $v\Theta^{op} = \Theta v$ of maps from B^* to \mathbb{R} is also fragmented. Now recall that $\Theta v = B$ by Lemma 3.12.1.

(2) \Rightarrow (3): Follows from Lemma 13.4.2 and the fact that \mathcal{E} is the enveloping semigroup $E(\Theta^{op}, B^*)$.

 $(3) \Rightarrow (2)$: $\Lambda(\mathcal{E}) = \Theta^{op}$ (Lemma 3.12.5) and \mathcal{E} is a HNS-semigroup. So, (S, \mathcal{E}) is HNS by Lemma 13.4.3 with $S = \Theta^{op}$. Take $\psi \in B^*$ with $||\psi|| = 1$. The map $q: \mathcal{E} \to B^*$, $p \mapsto p\psi$ defines a continuous homomorphism of Θ^{op} -systems. By Lemma 3.12.4, we have $\mathcal{E}\psi = B^*$. So q is onto. Now observe that the HNS property is preserved by factors of S-systems (Lemma 13.4.1).

Our next two theorems are based on ideas from Glasner-Megrelishvili-Uspenskij [30].

Theorem 13.6. Let V be a Banach space. The following are equivalent:

(1) V is a separable Asplund space.

- (2) \mathcal{E} is homeomorphic to the Hilbert cube $[-1,1]^{\mathbb{N}}$ (for infinite-dimensional V).
- (3) \mathcal{E} is metrizable.

Proof. (1) \Rightarrow (2) Since \mathcal{E} is a compact affine subset in the Fréchet space $\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{N}}$ we can use Keller's Theorem [8, p. 100].

 $(2) \Rightarrow (3)$ Is trivial.

 $(3) \Rightarrow (1) \mathcal{E}$ is a HNS-semigroup by Lemma 13.2.3. Now Theorem 13.5 implies that V is Asplund. It is also separable; indeed, by Lemma 3.12.4, B^* is a continuous image of \mathcal{E} , so that B^* is also w^* -metrizable, which in turn yields the separability of V.

Theorem 13.7. Let X be a compact S-system. Consider the following assertions:

(a) E(X) is metrizable.

(b) (S, X) is HNS.

Then:

- (1) (a) \Rightarrow (b).
- (2) If X, in addition, is metrizable then (a) \Leftrightarrow (b).

Proof. (1) By Definition 13.3 we have to show that E(X) is a fragmented family of maps from X into itself. The unique compatible uniformity on the compactum X is the weakest uniformity on X generated by C(X). Using Remark 12.2.1 one may reduce the proof to the verification of the following claim: $E^f := \{f \circ p : p \in E(X)\}$ is a fragmented family for every $f \in C(X)$. In order to prove this claim apply Lemma 12.3.2 to the induced mapping $E(X) \times X \to \mathbb{R}, (p, x) \mapsto f(px)$ (using our assumption that E(X) is metrizable).

(2) If X is a metrizable HNS S-system then by Theorem 15.3 below, (S, X) is representable on a separable Asplund space V. We can assume that X is S-embedded into B^* . The enveloping semigroup $E(S, B^*)$ is embedded into \mathcal{E} The latter is metrizable by virtue of Theorem 13.6. Hence E(S, X) is also metrizable, being a continuous image of $E(S, B^*)$.

Theorem 13.8. For a compact metric S-space X the following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) the dynamical system (S, X) is RN (that is, Asplund representable);
- (2) (S, X) is HNS;
- (3) the enveloping semigroup E(S, X) is metrizable.

Theorem 13.9. Every scattered (e.g., countable) compact S-space X is HNS

Proof. Recall that C(X) is Asplund if (and only if) the compactum X is scattered. \Box

14. Appendix C: Tame systems and dynamical BFT dichotomy

Definition 14.1. A compact separately continuous S-system X is said to be *tame* if the translation $\lambda_a : X \to X, x \mapsto ax$ is a fragmented map for every element $a \in E(X)$ of the enveloping semigroup.

Lemma 14.2. Every WAP system is HNS and every HNS is tame.

Proof. If (S, X) is WAP then $E(X) \times X \to X$ is separately continuous. By Lemma 12.3.1 we obtain that E is a fragmented family of maps from X to X. In particular, its subfamily $\{\tilde{s} : X \to X\}_{s \in S}$ of all translations is fragmented. Hence, (S, X) is HNS.

Directly from the definitions we conclude that every HNS is tame. \Box

Another proof of Lemma 14.2 comes also from Banach representations theory for dynamical systems because every reflexive space is Asplund and every Asplund is Rosenthal.

By [29], a compact metrizable S-system X is tame iff S is eventually fragmented on X, that is, for every infinite (countable) subset $C \subset G$ there exists an infinite subset $K \subset C$ such that K is a fragmented family of maps $X \to X$.

Lemma 14.3.

- (1) For every S the class of tame S-systems is closed under closed subsystems, arbitrary products and factors.
- (2) For every tame compact S-system X the corresponding enveloping semigroup E(X) is tame both as an S-system and as a semigroup.
- (3) Let P be a tame right topological compact semigroup and let $\nu : S \to P$ be a continuous homomorphism from a semitopological semigroup S into P such that $\nu(S) \subset \Lambda(P)$. Then the S-system P is tame.
- (4) $\{tame \ semigroups\} = \{enveloping \ semigroups \ of \ tame \ systems\}.$

Theorem 14.4. Let V be a Banach space. The following are equivalent:

- (1) V is a Rosenthal Banach space.
- (2) (Θ^{op}, B^*) is a tame system.
- (3) $p: B^* \to B^*$ is a fragmented map for each $p \in \mathcal{E}$.
- (4) \mathcal{E} is a tame semigroup.

Proof. (2) \Leftrightarrow (3): Follows from the definition of tame flows because $\mathcal{E} = E(\Theta^{op}, B^*)$. (2) \Rightarrow (4): Since $\mathcal{E} = E(\Theta^{op}, B^*)$, Lemma 14.3.2 applies.

 $(4) \Rightarrow (2)$: By our assumption, \mathcal{E} is a tame semigroup. Then by Lemma 14.3.3 the system $(\Theta^{op}, \mathcal{E})$ is tame. Its factor (Lemma 3.12.4) (Θ^{op}, B^*) is tame, too.

 $(2) \Rightarrow (1)$: By a characterization of Rosenthal spaces [25, Prop. 4.12] (see also Fact 12.11) it suffices to show that $B^{**} \subset \mathcal{F}(B^*)$. Since (Θ^{op}, B^*) is tame, $p: B^* \to B^*$ is fragmented for every $p \in E(\Theta^{op}, B^*) = \mathcal{E}$. Pick an arbitrary $v \in B_V$ with ||v|| = 1. Then $v\mathcal{E}$ is exactly B^{**} by Lemma 3.12.2. So every $\phi \in B^{**}$ is a composition $v \circ p$, where p is a fragmented map. Since $v: B^* \to \mathbb{R}$ is weak^{*} continuous we conclude that $\phi: B^* \to B^*$ is fragmented.

 $(1) \Rightarrow (3)$: We have to show that $\mathcal{E} \subset \mathcal{F}(B^*, B^*)$ for every Rosenthal space V. Let $p \in \mathcal{E}$. Then $p \in \Theta(V^*)$. That is, p is a linear map $p : V^* \to V^*$ with norm ≤ 1 . Then, for every vector $f \in V$, the composition $f \circ p : V^* \to \mathbb{R}$ is a linear bounded

functional on V^* . That is, $f \circ p \in V^{**}$ belongs to the second dual. Again, by the above mentioned characterization of Rosenthal spaces, the corresponding restriction $f \circ p|_{B^*} : B^* \to \mathbb{R}$ is a fragmented function for every $f \in V$. Since V separates points of B^* we can apply [25, Lemma 2.3.3]. It follows that $p : B^* \to B^*$ is fragmented for every $p \in \mathcal{E}$.

14.1. A dynamical BFT dichotomy. Recall that a topological space K is a Rosenthal compactum [33] if it is homeomorphic to a pointwise compact subset of the space $\mathcal{B}_1(X)$ of functions of the first Baire class on a Polish space X. All metric compact spaces are Rosenthal. An example of a separable non-metrizable Rosenthal compactum is the *Helly compact* of all nondecreasing selfmaps of [0, 1] in the pointwise topology. Recall that a topological space K is *Fréchet* (or, *Fréchet-Urysohn*) if for every $A \subset K$ and every $x \in cl(A)$ there exists a sequence of elements of A which converges to x. Every Rosenthal compact space K is Fréchet by a result of Bourgain-Fremlin-Talagrand [7, Theorem 3F], generalizing a result of Rosenthal.

Theorem 14.5. If the enveloping semigroup E(X) is a Fréchet (e.g., Rosenthal) space, as a topological space, then (S, X) is a tame system (and E(X) is a tame semigroup).

Proof. Let $p \in E(X)$. We have to show that $p: X \to X$ is fragmented. By properties of fragmented maps [25, Lemma 2.3.3] it is enough to show that $f \circ p: X \to \mathbb{R}$ is fragmented for every $f \in C(X)$. By the Fréchet property of E(X) we may choose a sequence s_n in S such that the sequence $j(s_n)$ converges to p in E(X). Hence the sequence of continuous functions $f \circ s_n = f \circ j(s_n)$ converges pointwise to $f \circ p$ in \mathbb{R}^X . Apply Lemma 12.3.2 to the evaluation map $F \times X \to \mathbb{R}$, where F := $\{f \circ p\} \cup \{f \circ j(s_n)\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \mathbb{R}^X$ carries the pointwise topology. We conclude that Fis a fragmented family. In particular, $f \circ p$ is a fragmented map. (E(X) is a tame semigroup by Lemma 14.3.2.) \square

Corollary 14.6. Let P be a compact right topological admissible semigroup. If P is Fréchet (e.g., when it is Rosenthal), as a topological space, then P is a tame semigroup.

Proof. Applying Theorem 14.5 to the system (S, P), with $S := \Lambda(P)$ we obtain that E(S, P) = P is a tame semigroup.

The following theorem is due to Bourgain-Fremlin-Talagrand [7, Theorem 3F], generalizing a result of Rosenthal. The second assertion (BFT dichotomy) is presented as in the book of Todorčević [70] (see Proposition 1 of Section 13).

Theorem 14.7. (1) Every Rosenthal compact space K is Frechet.

(2) (BFT dichotomy) Let X be a Polish space and let $\{f_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of continuous real valued functions on X which is bounded. Then, either the sequence $\{f_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ contains a pointwise convergent subsequence, or it contains a subsequence whose closure in \mathbb{R}^X is homeomorphic to $\beta\mathbb{N}$, the Stone-Čech compactification of \mathbb{N} .

The following result was proved in [23, Theorem 3.2] using the Bourgain-Fremlin-Talagrand (BFT) dichotomy in the setting of continuous group actions. The same arguments work also for separately continuous semigroup actions. For the sake of completeness we include a simplified proof. **Fact 14.8** (A dynamical BFT dichotomy). [23, Theorem 3.2] Let X be a compact metric dynamical S-system and let E = E(X) be its enveloping semigroup. We have the following alternative. Either

- (1) E is a separable Rosenthal compact, hence card $E \leq 2^{\aleph_0}$; or
- (2) the compact space E contains a homeomorphic copy of $\beta \mathbb{N}$, hence card $E = 2^{2^{\aleph_0}}$.

The first possibility holds iff X is a tame S-system.

Proof. For every $f \in C(X)$ define $E^f := \{f \circ p : p \in E\}$. Then E^f is a pointwise compact subset of \mathbb{R}^X , being a continuous image of E under the map $q_f : E \to E^f$, $p \mapsto f \circ p$. Since X is metrizable by the separability of E there exists a sequence $\{s_m\}_{m=1}^{\infty}$ in S such that $\{j(s_m)\}_{m=1}^{\infty}$ is dense in E(X). In particular, the sequence of real valued functions $\{f \circ s_m\}_{m=1}^{\infty}$ is pointwise dense in E^f .

Choose a sequence $\{f_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ in C(X) which separates the points of X. For every pair s, t of distinct elements of E there exist a point $x_0 \in X$ and a function f_{n_0} such that $f_{n_0}(sx_0) \neq f_{n_0}(tx_0)$. It follows that the continuous diagonal map

$$\Phi: E \to \prod_{n \in \mathbb{N}} E^{f_n}, \qquad p \mapsto (f_1 \circ p, f_2 \circ p, \dots)$$

separates the points of E and hence is a topological embedding. Now if for each n the space E^{f_n} is a Rosenthal compactum then so is $E \cong \Phi(E) \subset \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} E^{f_n}$, because the class of Rosenthal compacta is closed under countable products and closed subspaces. On the other hand if at least one $E^{f_n} = cl_p(\{f_n \circ s_m\}_{m=1}^{\infty})$ is not Rosenthal then, by BFT-dichotomy it contains a homeomorphic copy of $\beta \mathbb{N}$ and it is easy to see that so does its preimage E. In fact if $\beta \mathbb{N} \cong Z \subset E^{f_n}$ then any closed subset Y of E which projects onto Z and is minimal with respect to these properties is also homeomorphic to $\beta \mathbb{N}$.

Now we show the last assertion. If X is tame then every $p \in E(X)$ is a fragmented self-map of X. Hence every $f \circ p \in E^f$ is fragmented. By Remark 12.2.2 this is equivalent to saying that every $f \circ p$ is Baire 1. So $E^f \subset \mathcal{B}_1(X)$ is a Rosenthal compactum. Therefore, $E \cong \Phi(E) \subset \prod_{n \in \mathbb{N}} E^{f_n}$ is also Rosenthal. Conversely, if E is a Rosenthal compactum then (S, X) is tame by Theorem 14.5. \Box

Theorem 14.9 (BFT dichotomy for Banach spaces). Let V be a separable Banach space and let $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{E}(V)$ be its (separable) enveloping semigroup. We have the following alternative. Either

- (1) \mathcal{E} is a Rosenthal compactum, hence card $\mathcal{E} < 2^{\aleph_0}$; or
- (2) the compact space \mathcal{E} contains a homeomorphic copy of $\beta \mathbb{N}$, hence card $\mathcal{E} = 2^{2^{\aleph_0}}$.

The first possibility holds iff V is a Rosenthal Banach space.

Proof. Recall that $\mathcal{E} = E(\Theta^{op}, B^*)$. By Theorem 14.4, V is Rosenthal iff (Θ^{op}, B^*) is tame. Since V is separable, B^* is metrizable. So we can apply Fact 14.8.

The correspondence between $\mathcal{E}(V)$ and the dynamical system (Θ^{op}, B^*) suggest to try some new classes of Banach spaces which correspond to known classes of dynamical systems. As well as to try find new classes of dynamical systems. 14.2. Some topological corollaries. Answering a question of Talagrand [68, Problem14-2-41], R. Pol [58] gave an example of a separable compact Rosenthal space K which cannot be embedded in $\mathcal{B}_1(X)$ for any compact metrizable X. In [25] we say that a compact space K is strongly Rosenthal if it is homeomorphic to a subspace of $\mathcal{B}_1(X)$ for a compact metrizable X; and that it is admissible if there exists a metrizable compact space X and a bounded subset $Z \subset C(X)$ with $K \subset \operatorname{cl}_p(Z)$, such that the pointwise closure $\operatorname{cl}_p(Z)$ of Z in \mathbb{R}^X consists of Baire 1 functions. Clearly every admissible compactum is strongly Rosenthal.

Theorem 14.10. [25] Let X be a compact metrizable S-system. Then (S, X) is tame iff the compactum K := E(X) is Rosenthal iff E(X) is admissible.

Thus, Pol's separable compactum mentioned above cannot be of the form E(X). We do not know if every separable strongly Rosenthal space is admissible. If the answer to this question is in the negative, then this will yield another topological obstruction on being an enveloping semigroup.

Finally, as a consequence of the representation theorem 15.3.1 below we obtain the following result: A compact space K is an admissible Rosenthal compactum iff it is homeomorphic to a weak^{*} closed bounded subset in the second dual of a separable Rosenthal Banach space V.

Essentially the same result (using different terminology and setting) was obtained earlier by Marciszewski (see Marciszewski [43, Section 6.2] and also Marciszewski-Pol [44, Theorem 8.2]).

14.3. Some classes of functions.

Definition 14.11. Let $f \in C(X)$ on a (not necessarily, compact) S-system X.

- (1) We say that f comes from the S-compactification $q : X \to Y$ (where the action of S on Y is at least separately continuous) if there exists a continuous function $f': Y \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $f = f' \circ q$.
- (2) We say that $f \in C(X)$ is *RMC* (right multiplicatively continuous) if f comes from some *S*-compactification $q: X \to Y$. For every compact *S*-system X we have RMC(X) = C(X).
- (3) If we consider only jointly continuous S-actions on Y then the functions $f : X \to \mathbb{R}$ which come from such G-compactifications $q : X \to Y$ are right uniformly continuous. Notation: $f \in \text{RUC}(X)$.
- (4) f is said to be: a) WAP; b) Asplund; c) tame if f comes from an Scompactification $q : X \to Y$ such that (S, Y) is: WAP, HNS or tame respectively. For the corresponding classes of functions we use the notation: WAP(X), Asp(X), Tame(X), respectively. Each of these is a norm closed Sinvariant subalgebra of the S-algebra $RMC(X) \subset C(X)$ and

$$WAP(X) \subset Asp(X) \subset Tame(X).$$

For more details see [27, 28].

(5) Note that as a particular case of (3) we have defined the algebras WAP(S), Asp(S), Tame(S) corresponding to the left action of S on X := S.

Definition 14.12. [23, 27] We say that a compact dynamical S-system X is cyclic if there exists $f \in C(X)$ such that (S, X) is topologically S-isomorphic to the Gelfand

space X_f of the S-invariant unital subalgebra $\mathcal{A}_f \subset C(X)$ (generated by the orbit fS).

Remark 14.13. Let X be a (not necessarily compact) S-system and $f \in \text{RMC}(X)$. Then, as was shown in [27], there exist: a cyclic S-system X_f , a continuous Scompactification $\pi_f : X \to X_f$, and a continuous function $\tilde{f} : X_f \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $f = \tilde{f} \circ \pi_f$; that is, f comes from the S-compactification $\pi_f : X \to X_f$. The collection of functions $\tilde{f}S$ separates points of X_f . Finally, $f \in \text{RUC}(X)$ iff the action of S on X_f is jointly continuous.

The cyclic S-systems X_f provide "building blocks" for compact S-systems. That is, every compact S-space can be embedded into the S-product of S-spaces X_f , where $f \in C(X)$.

Proposition 14.14. Let X be a compact S-space and $f \in C(X)$.

- (1) $f \in WAP(X)$ iff fS has DLP on X.
- (2) $f \in Asp(X)$ iff fS is a fragmented family.
- (3) $f \in \text{Tame}(X)$ iff fS is eventually fragmented iff fS does not contain an l_1 -sequence.

15. Appendix D: Representations of HNS and tame systems

Next we deal with the representability of families of real-valued functions on compact systems. This topic is closely related to the "smallness" of the family F in terms of its pointwise closure in the spirit of Theorem 12.10.

Definition 15.1. Let $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathbf{Ban}$ be a subclass of Banach spaces.

(1) Let X be a compact S-system and (h, α) a representation of (S, X) on a Banach space V. Let $F \subset C(X)$ be a bounded S-invariant family of continuous functions on X and $\nu : F \to V$ a bounded mapping. We say that (ν, h, α) is an F-representation of the triple (F, S, X) if ν is an S-mapping (i.e., $\nu(fs) = \nu(f)s$ for every $(f, s) \in F \times S$) and

$$f(x) = \langle \nu(f), \alpha(x) \rangle \quad \forall \ f \in F, \ \forall \ x \in X.$$

In other words, the following diagram commutes

(15.1)
$$F \times X \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$$
$$\nu \bigvee_{\nu} \bigvee_{\mu} \alpha \qquad \qquad \downarrow_{id_{\mathbb{R}}}$$
$$V \times V^* \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$$

an injection.

- (2) We say that a family $F \subset C(X)$ is \mathcal{K} -representable if there exists a Banach space $V \in \mathcal{K}$ and a representation (ν, h, α) of the triple (F, S, X). A function $f \in C(X)$ is said to be \mathcal{K} -representable if the orbit fS is \mathcal{K} -representable. Note that we do not assume in (1) or (2) that α is injective. However, when the family F separates points on X it follows that the map α is necessarily
- (3) In particular, we obtain the definitions of reflexively, Asplund and Rosenthal representable families of functions on dynamical systems.

Clearly, every bounded S-invariant $F \subset C(X)$ on an S-system X is Banach representable via the canonical representation on V = C(X).

15.1. Representation theorems. Let S be a semitopological semigroup and X a compact S-system with a separately continuous action.

Theorem 15.2. (Small families of functions)

Let $F \subset C(X)$ be a norm bounded S-invariant subset of C(X).

- (1) (F, S, X) admits a Rosenthal representation iff F is an eventually fragmented family iff $cl_p(F) \subset \mathcal{F}(X)$.
- (2) (F, S, X) admits an Asplund representation iff F is a fragmented family iff the envelope cl_p(F) of F is a fragmented family.
- (3) (F, S, X) admits a reflexive representation iff $cl_p(F) \subset C(X)$ iff F has DLP on X.

Proof. (3) Already was proved in Section 6.3.

(1) and (2): The "only if part" is a consequence of the characterizations of Asplund and Rosenthal spaces in terms of fragmented and eventually fragmented families, Theorems 12.5.4 and 12.11.4. $\hfill \Box$

Theorem 15.3.

- (1) (S, X) is a tame (continuous) system if and only if (S, X) is weakly (respectively, strongly) Rosenthal-approximable.
- (2) (S, X) is a HNS (continuous) system if and only if (S, X) is weakly (respectively, strongly) Asplund-approximable.

If X is metrizable then in (1) and (2) "approximable" can be replaced by "representable". Moreover, the corresponding Banach space can be assumed to be separable.

Proof. "only if" part: For (1) use the fact that (Θ^{op}, B^*) is a tame system (Theorem 14.4) for every Rosenthal V and for (2), the fact that (Θ^{op}, B^*) is HNS (Theorem 13.5) for Asplund V.

"if" part: (1) For every $f \in C(X) = \text{Tame}(X)$ the orbit fS is a Rosenthal family for X (Proposition 14.14). Applying Theorem 15.4 below we conclude that every $f \in C(X) = \text{Tame}(X)$ on a compact G-space X comes from a Rosenthal representation. Since continuous functions separate points of X, this implies that Rosenthal representations of (S, X) separate points of X. So, for (1) it is enough to prove the following result which gives a proof of Theorem 15.2.1. The proof of (2) is similar.

Theorem 15.4. Let $F \subset C(X)$ be a Rosenthal family (Asplund family) for X such that F is S-invariant; that is, $fS \subset F \quad \forall f \in F$. Then there exist: a Rosenthal (respectively, Asplund) Banach space V, an injective mapping $\nu : F \to B_V$ and a representation

$$h: S \to \Theta(V), \quad \alpha: X \to V^*$$

of (S, X) on V such that h is weakly continuous, α is a weak^{*} continuous map and

$$f(x) = \langle \nu(f), \alpha(x) \rangle \quad \forall \ f \in F \quad \forall \ x \in X.$$

Thus the following diagram commutes

(15.2)
$$F \times X \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$$
$$\nu \bigvee_{\nu} \bigvee_{\alpha} \bigvee_{id_{\mathbb{R}}} V \times V^* \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$$

If X is metrizable then in addition we can suppose that V is separable. If the action $S \times X \to X$ is continuous we may assume that h is strongly continuous.

Proof. Step 1: The construction of V.

For brevity of notation let $\mathcal{A} := C(X)$ denote the Banach space C(X), B will denote its unit ball, and B^* will denote the weak^{*} compact unit ball of the dual space $\mathcal{A}^* = C(X)^*$. Let W be the symmetrized convex hull of F; that is, $W := \operatorname{co}(F \cup -F)$. Consider the sequence of sets

(15.3)
$$M_n := 2^n W + 2^{-n} B.$$

Then W is convex and symmetric. We apply the construction of Davis-Figiel-Johnson-Pelczyński [10] as follows. Let $\| \|_n$ be the Minkowski functional of the set M_n , that is,

$$||v||_n = \inf \{\lambda > 0 \mid v \in \lambda M_n\}.$$

Then $\| \|_n$ is a norm on \mathcal{A} equivalent to the given norm of \mathcal{A} . For $v \in \mathcal{A}$, set

$$N(v) := \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|v\|_{n}^{2}\right)^{1/2} \text{ and let } V := \{v \in \mathcal{A} \mid N(v) < \infty\}$$

Denote by $j: V \hookrightarrow \mathcal{A}$ the inclusion map. Then (V, N) is a Banach space, $j: V \to \mathcal{A}$ is a continuous linear injection and

(15.4)
$$W \subset j(B_V) = B_V \subset \bigcap_{n \in \mathbb{N}} M_n = \bigcap_{n \in \mathbb{N}} (2^n W + 2^{-n} B)$$

Indeed, if $v \in W$ then $2^n v \in M_n$, hence $||v||_n \leq 2^{-n}$ and $N(v)^2 \leq \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-2n} < 1$. This proves $W \subset j(B_V)$. In order to prove the second inclusion recall that the norms $||\cdot||_n$ on \mathcal{A} are equivalent to each other. It follows that if $v \in B_V$ then $||v||_n < 1$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. That is, for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $v \in \lambda_n M_n$ for some $0 < \lambda_n < 1$. By the construction M_n is a convex subset containing the origin. This implies that $\lambda_n M_n \subset M_n$. Hence $j(v) = v \in M_n$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Step 2: The construction of the representation (h, α) of (S, X) on V.

The given action $S \times X \to X$ induces a natural linear norm preserving continuous right action $C(X) \times S \to C(X)$ on the Banach space $\mathcal{A} = C(X)$. It follows by the construction that W and B are S-invariant subsets in \mathcal{A} . This implies that V is an Sinvariant subset of \mathcal{A} and the restricted natural linear action $V \times S \to V$, $(v, g) \mapsto vg$ satisfies $N(vs) \leq N(v)$. Therefore, the co-homomorphism $h: S \to \Theta(V), h(s)(v) :=$ vs is well defined. Let $j^* : \mathcal{A}^* \to V^*$ be the adjoint map of $j : V \to \mathcal{A}$. Define $\alpha : X \to V^*$ as follows. For every $x \in X \subset C(X)^*$ set $\alpha(x) = j^*(x)$. Then (h, α) is a representation of (S, X) on the Banach space V.

By the construction, $F \subset W \subset B_V$. Define $\nu : F \hookrightarrow B_V$ as the natural inclusion. Then

(15.5)
$$f(x) = \langle \nu(f), \alpha(x) \rangle \quad \forall \ f \in F \ \forall \ x \in X.$$

Step 3: V is a Rosenthal space.

Proof. (In [25, Theorem 6.3] we have a different proof.) If F is an eventually fragmented family for X then $W := \operatorname{co}(F \cup -F)$ is an eventually fragmented family for X and even for B^* (Proposition 12.23). By the construction of DFJP ([16, Lemma 1.2.2]) we get $j: V \to \mathcal{A}$ such that $cl_{norm}j^*(\mathcal{A}^*) = V^*$. Denote by $M := \cap \{2^n W + \frac{1}{2^n}B\}$. Then $j(B_V) \subset M$. Since \mathbb{R} is a metrizable uniform space by diagonal arguments we obtain that M is eventually fragmented on X. Therefore M is eventually fragmented also on B^* (again Proposition 12.23). In order to show that V is Rosenthal it is equivalent to show that B_V is eventually fragmented on B_{V^*} (Fact 12.11). It is equivalent to show that for every infinite subset C_0 of B_V there exists a (countable) infinite subset $C \subset C_0$ which is fragmented on B_{V^*} , or equivalently, that (B_{V^*}, ρ_C) is separable. Equivalently, that (V^*, ρ_C) is separable. Since $j(C_0) \subset M$ is an infinite subset (recall that j is injective) we obtain that there exists an infinite subset j(C)which is a fragmented family on $B_{\mathcal{A}^*}$. Equivalently, $(B_{\mathcal{A}^*}, \rho_{i(C)})$ is separable. Equivalently, $(\mathcal{A}^*, \rho_{j(C)})$ is separable (Theorem 12.13). By the definition of the adjoint operator $(\langle j(c), v^* \rangle = \langle c, j^*(v^*) \rangle)$ we obtain that $(j^*(\mathcal{A}^*), \rho_C)$ is separable. Then its closure is also separable. That is, $cl_{\rho_C}(j^*(\mathcal{A}^*))$ is also ρ_C -separable. Since C is a bounded subset, clearly, $cl_{\rho_C}(j^*(\mathcal{A}^*)) \supset cl_{norm}(j^*(\mathcal{A}^*)) = V^*$. Therefore, $(V, *, \rho_C)$ is separable, as desired.

Step 4: Weak continuity of $h: S \to \Theta(V)$.

By our construction $j^* : C(X)^* \to V^*$, being the adjoint of the bounded linear operator $j : V \to C(X)$, is a norm and weak^{*} continuous linear operator. By [16, Lemma 1.2.2] we obtain that $j^*(C(X)^*)$ is norm dense in V^* . Since V is Rosenthal, Haydon's theorem (Fact 12.11.4) gives $Q := cl_{w^*}(co(Y)) = cl_{norm}(co(Y))$, where $Y := j^*(X)$. Now observe that $j^*(P(X)) = Q$. Since $S \times X \to X$ is separately continuous, every orbit map $\tilde{x} : S \to X$ is continuous, and each orbit map $\tilde{j^*(x)} :$ $S \to j^*(X)$ is weak^{*} continuous. Then also $\tilde{j^*(z)} : S \to V^*$ is weak^{*} continuous for each $z \in cl_{norm}(co(j^*(X))) = Q$. Since sp(Q) is norm dense in V^* (and $||h(s)|| \leq 1$ for each $s \in S$) it easily follows that $j^*(z) : S \to V^*$ is weak^{*} continuous for every $z \in V^*$. This is equivalent to the weak continuity of h.

If the action $S \times X \to X$ is continuous we may assume that h is strongly continuous. Indeed, by the definition of the norm N, we can show that the action of S on V is norm continuous (use the fact that, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, the norm $\|\cdot\|_n$ on \mathcal{A} is equivalent to the given norm on \mathcal{A}).

If the compact space X is metrizable then C(X) is separable and it is also easy to see that (V, N) is separable.

This proves Theorem 15.4 and hence also Theorem 15.3.1.

For the "Asplund case" (when F is fragmented on X) use

Step 3': V is an Asplund space.

The main idea is that the corresponding results of [49, Section 7] and [23, Section 9] can be adopted here, thus obtaining a modification of Theorem 15.4 which replaces a Rosenthal space by an Asplund space, and a "Rosenthal family F" for Xby an "Asplund set". The latter means that for every countable subset $A \subset F$ the pseudometric ρ_A on X defined by

$$\rho_A(x,y) := \sup_{f \in A} |f(x) - f(y)|, \ x, y \in X$$

is separable. By [16, Lemma 1.5.3] this is equivalent to saying that $(C(X)^*, \rho_A)$ is separable. Now $co(F \cup -F)$ is an Asplund set for B^* by [16, Lemma 1.4.3]. The rest is similar to the proof of [49, Theorem 7.7]. Checking the weak continuity of h one can apply a similar idea (using again Haydon's theorem as in (1)).

Finally note that if X is metrizable then in (1) and (2) "approximable" can be replaced by "representable" using an l_2 -sum of a sequence of separable Banach spaces.

Note that, in Definition 15.1, when the family F separates points on X it follows that the map α is necessarily an injection. In view of this remark, Theorem 15.2 implies Theorem 15.3 and also the following useful result.

Theorem 15.5. A compact S-system X is RN (WRN, Eberlein) iff there exists a norm bounded S-invariant fragmented (resp.: eventually fragmented, DLP) family $F \subset C(X)$ which separates points of X.

Similar to Theorem 7.4 one may show

Theorem 15.6. Let G be a topological group and $f \in RUC(G)$. The following are equivalent:

- (1) $f \in Asp(G)$ iff f is a matrix coefficient of a strongly continuous Asplund co-representation of G.
- (2) $f \in \text{Tame}(G)$ iff f is a matrix coefficient of a strongly continuous Rosenthal co-representation of G.

15.2. The purely topological case. Note that the definitions and results of Section 15 (for instance, Theorem 15.2) make sense in the purely topological setting, for trivial $S = \{e\}$ actions, yielding characterizations of "small families" of functions, and of RN, WRN and Eberlein compact spaces.

The "only if" parts of these results, in the cases of Eberlein and RN compact spaces (with trivial actions), are consequences of known characterizations of reflexive and Asplund spaces. The Eberlein case yields a well-known result: a compact space X is Eberlein iff there exists a pointwise compact subset $Y \subset C(X)$ which separates the points of X. The RN case is very close to some results of Namioka [55] (up to some reformulations). The case of WRN spaces seems to be new.

Recall that (answering to a question posed by Lindenstrauss) by a classical result of Benjamini-Rudin-Wage, continuous surjective maps preserve the class of Eberlein compact spaces. The same is true for uniformly Eberlein (that is, Hilbert representable) compacta. Recently, Aviles and Koszmider [1] proved that this is not the case for the class RN of Asplund representable compacta, answering a long standing open problem posed by Namioka [55]. The following question seems to be interesting.

Question 15.7. Is it true that the class of WRN (e.g., Rosenthal representable) compact spaces is closed under continuous onto maps?

Remark 15.8.

- (1) An example of a compact space which is not WRN is $\beta \mathbb{N}$. This was done by Todorčević (private communication).
- (2) Two arrows space is WRN but not RN. More precisely, as we recently established, every compact linearly ordered space is WRN. On the other hand, two arrows space is not RN as it was established by Namioka [55, Example 5.9].
- (3) One may show that a compact space K is WRN iff the Banach space C(K) is *Rosenthal generated* (meaning that there exists a Rosenthal space V and a linear dense (injective) operator $V \to C(K)$). It is a WRN analog of Stegall's result for RN compacts.

References

- A. Aviles and P. Koszmider, A continuous image of a Radon-Nikodým compact which is not Radon-Nikodým, Duke Math. J. 162 (2013), no. 12, 2285-2299.
- J. B. Aujogue, Enveloping semi-group for minimal rotations on cut up tori, ArXiv 1305.0879v1, May, 2013.
- 3. I. Ben Yaacov and T. Tsankov, Weakly almost periodic functions, model-theoretic stability, and minimality of topological groups, ArXiv: 1312.7757, December 2013.
- I. Ben Yaakov A. Berenstein and S. Ferri, *Reflexive representability and stable metrics*. Math. Z. Vol.267 N.1-2 (2011), 128-138.
- J.F. Berglund, H.D. Junghenn and P. Milnes, Compact right topological semigroups and generalizations of almost periodicity, Lecture Notes in Math., 663, Springer-Verlag, 1978.
- 6. J.F. Berglund, H.D. Junghenn and P. Milnes, Analysis on Semigroups, Wiley, New York, 1989.
- J. Bourgain, D.H. Fremlin and M. Talagrand, *Pointwise compact sets in Baire-measurable func*tions, Amer. J. of Math., 100:4 (1977), 845-886.
- C. Bessaga and A. Pelczynski, Selected topics in infinite-dimensional topology, Monografie Matematyczne, Warszawa 1975.
- R.B. Burckel, Weakly almost periodic functions on semigroups, Gordon and Breach Science Publishers, New York-London-Paris, 1970.
- W.J. Davis, T. Figiel, W.B. Johnson and A. Pelczyński, Factoring weakly compact operators, J. of Funct. Anal., 17 (1974), 311-327.
- D. van Dulst, Characterizations of Banach spaces not containing l¹. Centrum voor Wiskunde en Informatica, Amsterdam, 1989.
- K. de Leeuw and I. Glicksberg, Applications of almost periodic compactifications, Acta Math. 105, (1961), 63-97.
- G.A. Edgar and R.F. Wheeler, *Topological properties of Banach spaces*, Pacific J. of Math., 115 (1984), 317-350.
- 14. R. Ellis, Lectures on Topological Dynamics, W. A. Benjamin, Inc., New York, 1969.
- R. Ellis and M. Nerurkar, Weakly almost periodic flows, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 313, (1989), 103-119.
- M. Fabian, Gateaux differentiability of convex functions and topology. Weak Asplund spaces, Canadian Math. Soc. Series of Monographs and Advanced Texts, New York, 1997.
- S. Ferri and J. Galindo, Embedding a topological group into its WAP-compactification, Studia Math. 193 (2), 2009, 99-108.
- 18. J. Galindo, On unitary representability of topological groups, Math. Z. 263 (2009), no. 1, 211-220.
- 19. J. Galindo, On Group and Semigroup Compactifications of Topological Groups, Preprint. http://www3.uji.es/~ jgalindo/Inv/notesSemCompBook.pdf
- 20. E. Glasner, *Proximal flows*, Lecture Notes in Mathermatics, 517, Springer-Verlag, 1976.
- 21. E. Glasner, On tame dynamical systems, Colloq. Math. 105 (2006), 283-295.
- E. Glasner, The structure of tame minimal dynamical systems, Ergod. Th. and Dynam. Sys. 27, (2007), 1819-1837.
- E. Glasner and M. Megrelishvili, *Linear representations of hereditarily non-sensitive dynamical systems*, Colloq. Math., **104** (2006), no. 2, 223–283.
- E. Glasner and M. Megrelishvili, New algebras of functions on topological groups arising from G-spaces, Fundamenta Math., 201 (2008), 1-51.
- E. Glasner and M. Megrelishvili, Representations of dynamical systems on Banach spaces not containing l₁, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 364 (2012), 6395-6424.
- E. Glasner and M. Megrelishvili, On fixed point theorems and nonsensitivity, Israel J. of Math., 190, (2012), 289-305.
- 27. E. Glasner and M. Megrelishvili, Banach representations and affine compactifications of dynamical systems, in: Fields institute proceedings dedicated to the 2010 thematic program on asymptotic geometric analysis, M. Ludwig, V.D. Milman, V. Pestov, N. Tomczak-Jaegermann (Editors), Springer, New-York, 2013. Arxiv version: 1204.0432.
- E. Glasner and M. Megrelishvili, *Representations of dynamical systems on Banach spaces*, Recent Progress in General Topology III, Springer-Verlag, Atlantis Press, 2013.

- E. Glasner and M. Megrelishvili, Eventual nonsensitivity and tame dynamical systems, ArXiv, 2014.
- E. Glasner, M. Megrelishvili and V.V. Uspenskij, On metrizable enveloping semigroups, Israel J. of Math. 164 (2008), 317-332.
- E. Glasner and B. Weiss, Quasifactors of zero-entropy systems, J. of Amer. Math. Soc. 8, (1995), 665-686.
- E. Glasner and B. Weiss, *Hilbert dynamical systems*, Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems **32** (2012), no. 2, 629-642 (volume in memory of Dan Rudolph).
- 33. G. Godefroy, Compacts de Rosenthal, Pacific J. Math., 91 (1980), 293-306.
- R. Haydon, Some new characterizations of Banach spaces containing l₁, Math. Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc. 80 (1976), 269-276.
- R.C. James, A separable somewhat reflexive Banach space with nonseparable dual, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 80 (1974), 738-743.
- J.E. Jayne, J. Orihuela, A.J. Pallares and G. Vera, σ-fragmentability of multivalued maps and selection theorems, J. Funct. Anal. 117 (1993), no. 2, 243–273.
- J.E. Jayne and C.A. Rogers, Borel selectors for upper semicontinuous set-valued maps, Acta Math. 155 (1985), 41-79.
- D. Kerr and H. Li, Independence in topological and C^{*}-dynamics, Math. Ann. 338 (2007), 869-926.
- 39. J.-L. Krivine and B. Maurey, Espaces de Banach stables, Usrael J. Math., 4 (1981), 273-295.
- A. Köhler, Enveloping semigrops for flows, Proc. of the Royal Irish Academy, 95A (1995), 179-191.
- J.D. Lawson, Additional notes on continuity in semitopological semigroups, Semigroup Forum, 12 (1976), 265-280.
- A. Lima, O. Nygaard, E. Oja, Isometric factorization of weakly compact operators and the approximation property, Israel J. Math., 119 (2000), 325-348.
- W. Marciszewski, On a classification of pointwise compact sets of the first Baire class functions, Fund. Math. 133 (1989), no. 3, 195-209.
- W. Marciszewski and R. Pol, On Borel almost disjoint families, Monatsh. Math. 168 (2012), no. 3-4, 545-562.
- M. Megrelishvili, Fragmentability and continuity of semigroup actions, Semigroup Forum, 57 (1998), 101-126.
- M. Megrelishvili, Operator topologies and reflexive representability, In: "Nuclear groups and Lie groups" Research and Exposition in Math. series, vol. 24, Heldermann Verlag Berlin, 2001, 197-208.
- M. Megrelishvili, Every semitopological semigroup compactification of the group H₊[0,1] is trivial, Semigroup Forum, 63:3 (2001), 357-370.
- M. Megrelishvili, *Reflexively but not unitarily representable topological groups*, Topology Proc., 25 (2002), 615-625.
- M. Megrelishvili, Fragmentability and representations of flows, Topology Proceedings, 27:2 (2003), 497-544. See also: www.math.biu.ac.il/~megreli.
- M. Megrelishvili, Compactifications of semigroups and semigroup actions, Topology Proceedings, 31:2 (2007), 611-650.
- M. Megrelishvili, Reflexively representable but not Hilbert representable compact flows and semitopological semigroups, Colloquium Math., 110 (2008), 383-407.
- M. Megrelishvili, V. Pestov and V. Uspenskij, A note on the precompactness of weakly almost periodic groups, In: "Nuclear Groups and Lie Groups", Research and Exposition in Math. Series, 24, Heldermann-Verlag, Lemgo, 2001, 209-216.
- W.B. Moors and I. Namioka, Furstenberg's structure theorem via CHART groups, Ergodic Theory and Dynamical Systems, Available on CJO 2012 doi:10.1017/S0143385712000089.
- 54. I. Namioka, Separate continuity and joint continuity, Pacific. J. Math., 51 (1974), 515-531.
- I. Namioka, Radon-Nikodým compact spaces and fragmentability, Mathematika 34, (1987), 258-281.

- I. Namioka and R.R. Phelps, Banach spaces which are Asplund spaces, Duke Math. J., 42 (1975), 735-750.
- E. Odell and H. P. Rosenthal, A double-dual characterization of separable Banach spaces containing l¹, Israel J. Math., 20 (1975), 375-384.
- R. Pol, Note on Compact Sets of First Baire Class Functions, Proc. of AMS, 96, No. 1. (1986), pp. 152-154.
- V. Pestov, Topological groups: where to from here?, Topology Proceedings 24 (1999), 421-502. http://arXiv.org/abs/math.GN/9910144.
- V. Pestov, Dynamics of infinite-dimensional groups. The Ramsey-Dvoretzky-Milman phenomenon. University Lecture Series, 40. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2006.
- R. Pikula, Enveloping semigroups of affine skew products and sturmian-like systems, Dissertation, The Ohio State University, 2009.
- Y. Raynaud, Espaces de Banach superstables, distances stables et homeomorphismes uniformes, Israel J. Math., 44 (1983), 33-52.
- 63. W. Roelcke and S. Dierolf, Uniform structures on topological groups and their quotients, McGraw-Hill, 1981.
- C. Rosendal and S. Solecki, Automatic Continuity of Homomorphisms and Fixed Point on Metric Compacta, Israel J. of Math., 102 (2007), 349-371.
- H.P. Rosenthal, A characterization of Banach spaces containing l₁, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 71 (1974), 2411-2413.
- E. Saab and P. Saab, A dual geometric characterization of Bancah spaces not containing l₁, Pacific J. Math., **105:2** (1983), 413-425.
- A. Shtern, Compact semitopological semigroups and reflexive representability, Russian J. of Math. Physics 2, (1994), 131-132.
- 68. M. Talagrand, Pettis integral and measure theory, Memoirs of AMS No. 51 (1984).
- S. Teleman, Sur la représentation linéare des groupes topologiques, Ann. Sci. Ecole Norm. Sup., 74 (1957), 319-339.
- 70. S. Todorčević, Topics in topology, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, 1652, Springer-Verlag, 1997.
- 71. S. Todorčević, Compact subsets of the first Baire class, J. of the AMS, 12, (1999), 1179-1212.
- V.V. Uspenskij, A universal topological group with countable base, Funct. Anal. Appl., 20 (1986), 160-161.
- V.V. Uspenskij, Compactifications of topological groups, Proceedings of the Ninth Prague Topological Symposium (Prague, August 19–25, 2001). Edited by P. Simon. Published April 2002 by Topology Atlas (electronic publication). Pp. 331–346, arXiv:math.GN/0204144.
- V.V. Uspenskij, Unitary representability of free abelian topological groups, Applied General Topology, 9 (2008) 197-204.
- J. de Vries, Equivariant embeddings of G-spaces, in: J. Novak (ed.), General Topology and its Relations to Modern Analysis and Algebra IV, Part B, Prague, 1977, 485-493.
- 76. J. de Vries, Elements of Topological Dynamics, Kluwer Academic Publishers, 1993.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, BAR-ILAN UNIVERSITY, 52900 RAMAT-GAN, ISRAEL E-mail address: megereli@math.biu.ac.il URL: http://www.math.biu.ac.il/~megereli